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Opinion

Appeal by plaintiffs from orders entered 13 October 2003 by 
Judge James U. Downs in Haywood County Superior Court. 
Heard in the Court of Appeals 31 August 2004.

HUNTER, Judge.

Lester Daniel Bryson and John Frank Bowen ("plaintiffs") 
appeal from orders granting a motion to dismiss and sanctions 
entered on 13 October 2003 in a civil action for declaratory 
judgment and injunctive relief. On appeal, plaintiffs contend 
the trial court erred in allowing the motion to dismiss and in 
issuing sanctions against plaintiffs, and that plaintiffs were 
deprived of constitutional rights [*2]  by application of N.C. 
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Gen. Stat. § 15A-1354. We disagree. Accordingly, we affirm 
the judgment of the trial court.

Plaintiffs filed a civil action for declaratory judgment and 
injunctive relief from sentences imposed after conviction of 
various crimes following jury trials. Plaintiff Bryson was 
convicted of two counts of indecent liberties with a child and 
sentenced to consecutive sentences. Plaintiff Bowen was 
convicted of conspiracy to commit forgery of a codicil, 
forgery of a codicil, conspiracy to obtain property by false 
pretense, ten counts of embezzlement, and three counts of 
obtaining property by false pretense and sentenced to 
consecutive sentences.

The trial court dismissed plaintiffs' suit on 13 October 2003 
on the grounds of: (1) lack of subject matter jurisdiction, (2) 
failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, (3) 
absolute immunity of defendant, and (4) res judicata from a 
prior identical lawsuit which was dismissed on 15 March 
2002. Additionally, the trial court granted sanctions which 
prevent plaintiffs from refiling the lawsuit or other frivolous 
lawsuits in North Carolina courts. Plaintiffs appeal from these 
rulings. 

 [*3]  Plaintiffs first contend the trial court erred in granting 
the motion to dismiss, arguing that both the order in this case, 
and in the prior case which barred the complaint on the 
grounds of res judicata, were entered out of session and were 
therefore null and void. We disagree.

Written orders may be entered out of session when a trial 
court has made an oral ruling in open court and in session. See 
State v. Smith, 320 N.C. 404, 415-16, 358 S.E.2d 329, 335 
(1987). Here, the record shows that the trial court orally 
entered the ruling in open court in the presence of plaintiffs 
on 15 September 2003, and that the ruling was later reduced 
to writing on 13 October 2003. The written order specifically 
noted that the order had been made in open court during the 
term and session. Therefore the trial court's grant of the 
motion to dismiss was validly entered and not null and void.

Further, the trial court properly dismissed the action on the 
grounds of res judicata as to defendants Johnston and 
Bridges. "'A final judgment, rendered on the merits by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, is conclusive as to the issues raised 
therein with respect to the parties and those [*4]  in privity 
with them and constitutes a bar to all subsequent actions 
involving the same issues and parties.'" Stafford v. County of 
Bladen, 163 N.C. App. 149, 592 S.E.2d 711, ___, 163 N.C. 
App. 149, 592 S.E.2d 711, 713 (2004) (quoting Kabatnik v. 
Westminster Co., 63 N.C. App. 708, 711-12, 306 S.E.2d 513, 
515 (1983)). "'A dismissal with prejudice is an adjudication 
on the merits and has res judicata implications[.] . . . Strict 

identity of issues . . . is not absolutely required and the 
doctrine of res judicata has been accordingly expanded to 
apply to those issues which could have been raised in the 
prior action.'" Id. (quoting Caswell Realty Assoc. v. Andrews 
Co., 128 N.C. App. 716, 720, 496 S.E.2d 607, 610 (1998)).

In the case sub judice, the trial court found plaintiffs' suit was 
virtually identical to a lawsuit dismissed with prejudice on 15 
March 2002. See Bryson v. Johnston, No. COA02-1149 (N.C. 
App. 2002) (order entered by Judge Dennis Winner on 15 
March 2002 in District Court, Haywood County, No. 
01CVS1270), appeal dismissed, 1 October 2002 (by order of 
the Clerk of Court for failure to pay fees). Plaintiffs' petition 
for review of [*5]  the suit dismissed on 15 March 2002 was 
denied by the North Carolina Supreme Court. See Bryson v. 
Johnston, ___ N.C. ___, 574 S.E.2d 676 (2002). This Court 
takes judicial notice of the complaint alleged in the prior 
dismissed suit and affirms the trial court's finding that the 
present action was "virtually identical" and therefore barred 
by the principles of res judicata.

Further, the trial court properly dismissed plaintiffs' 
declaratory judgment action as to Attorney General Roy 
Cooper for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Plaintiffs 
requested relief in the form of reversal of their convictions. 
As the trial court noted, such relief, if appropriate at all, 
would be available under the criminal statutes in a motion for 
appropriate relief, rather than a civil action for declaratory 
judgment. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1415(b)(4) (2003) 
(providing relief in noncapital cases on the grounds that 
defendant was sentenced under a statute in violation of the 
United States or North Carolina Constitutions). Therefore the 
trial court did not err in granting defendant's motion to 
dismiss plaintiffs' action as to all parties.

Plaintiffs [*6]  next contend error in the imposition of 
sanctions by the trial court. We disagree.

Sanctions may be imposed under Rule 11 for a violation of 
any one of three separate and distinct issues: (1) legal 
sufficiency, (2) factual sufficiency, or (3) improper purpose. 
See Bryson v. Sullivan, 330 N.C. 644, 655, 412 S.E.2d 327, 
332 (1992). The decision by the trial court to impose 
mandatory sanctions under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 11(a) 
(2003) is reviewed de novo as a legal issue. See Turner v. 
Duke University, 325 N.C. 152, 165, 381 S.E.2d 706, 714 
(1989). "The appellate court [must] determine (1) whether the 
trial court's conclusions of law support its judgment or 
determination, (2) whether the trial court's conclusions of law 
are supported by its findings of fact, and (3) whether the 
findings of fact are supported by a sufficiency of the 
evidence." Id. A finding in the affirmative of all three factors 
requires the appellate court to uphold the trial court's decision 
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to impose sanctions under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 11(a). 
Id.

Here, the trial court found plaintiffs'  [*7]  complaint lacked 
legal sufficiency based on failure to state a claim and lack of 
jurisdiction, as well as defendants' absolute immunity. Such 
legal conclusions are supported by the facts of the case and 
therefore the trial court properly imposed sanctions.

When a sanction is properly imposed, the appropriateness of 
the particular sanction selected is reviewed by the appellate 
court under an "'abuse of discretion'" standard. Turner, 325 
N.C. at 165, 381 S.E.2d at 714. This Court has previously 
noted that such a "standard is intended to give great leeway to 
the trial court and a clear abuse of discretion must be shown." 
Central Carolina Nissan, Inc. v. Sturgis, 98 N.C. App. 253, 
264, 390 S.E.2d 730, 737 (1990). The trial court's injunction 
from refiling a lawsuit on the facts of this case, or some 
variation thereof, and from filing other frivolous and baseless 
suits in North Carolina courts does not amount to an abuse of 
discretion.

As the trial court properly dismissed plaintiffs' action for lack 
of subject matter jurisdiction and res judicata, we do not 
reach plaintiffs' remaining assignment of error as to the merits 
of their suit.

Affirmed. 

 [*8]  Judges TIMMONS-GOODSON and McCULLOUGH 
concur.

Report per Rule 30(e).  

End of Document























to the merits of Plaintiffs' fraud claim, Defendant asserts Plaintiffs failed to timely make their trial period payments and

thus were not entitled to a HAMP loan modification. (See Def.'s Aff. ¶¶ 16–17). Plaintiffs dispute Defendant’s assertion,

insisting they timely made each of the trial period payments. (See Captain Decl. ¶ 6).

2 Plaintiffs assert the Motion should be denied as premature because there has been inadequate time for discovery.

(See Resp. 25). The Court disagrees. First, Defendant’s Motion is ripe because Plaintiffs have not shown they “cannot

present facts essential to justify [their] opposition” to Defendant’s Motion. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(d) (alteration added). More

importantly, the deadline to complete discovery was August 13, 2018 (see Order Setting Trial [ECF No. 10] ), although

when the Court granted in part a Joint Motion to Extend Discovery Deadlines and Trial Schedule [ECF No. 39] the parties

were reminded they could take discovery beyond the deadline by agreement (see July 27, 2018 Order [ECF No. 40] 3).

3 Rooker v. Fidelity Trust Co., 263 U.S. 413 (1923); District of Columbia Court of Appeals v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 462 (1983).

4 Defendant also argues Plaintiffs' claim is barred by Florida’s four-year statute of limitations (see Mot. 12–15) and Florida’s

compulsory counterclaim rule (see id. 16–17), and that Plaintiffs failed to satisfy an express condition precedent to

bringing this action (see id. 17–19). Because Plaintiffs' action is barred by Rooker-Feldman, the Court does not address

Defendant’s other arguments.

5 In Nivia, the Eleventh Circuit also held the Rooker-Feldman doctrine did not bar the plaintiffs' HAMP claim. See Nivia, 620

F. App'x at 824–25. In Nivia, the plaintiffs' HAMP claim arose under the HAMP and involved a lender’s noncompliance

with its duties under the HAMP. See id. The Court reasoned such procedural noncompliance could not “invalidate[ ] [the]

foreclosure resulting from that failure as a matter of law.” Id. at 825 (alterations added). In contrast, as explained in detail

above, the success of Plaintiffs' fraud claim “would require a determination that the state court entered the judgment

wrongly....” Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted; alteration added); see also Martinez v. Bank of Am., N.A.,

No. 8:17-cv-2596, 2018 WL 5024178, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 17, 2018) (“Nivia supports the application of the Rooker-

Feldman doctrine to this fraud case” and does “not stand for the proposition that any claims related to the issuance of

HAMP modifications are not barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.”).

End of Document © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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ORDER

UPON DUE AND CAREFUL CONSIDERATION of 
Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended 
Complaint (Dkt. 25), the allegations of the amended 
complaint (Dkt. 16), and the entire file,1 the Court finds the 
motion is due to be granted and the amended complaint 
dismissed without prejudice for lack of subject matter 
jurisdiction as will be more fully explained below.2

Defendant Bank of America, N.A. (Bank of America) seeks a 
dismissal of the one-count amended complaint for fraud on 
several grounds, one of which is the Rooker-Feldman 
doctrine.3 Under that doctrine, federal courts, other than the 
Supreme Court, do not have jurisdiction to review final state 
court decisions. See Target Media Partners v. Specialty Mktg. 
Corp., 881 F.3d 1279, 1285-86 (11th Cir. 2018) (explaining 
Rooker-Feldman doctrine and recognizing its limited 
scope [*2]  "to bar only those claims asserted by the parties 
who have lost in state court and then ask the district court, 

1 The Court notes that Plaintiff's counsel failed to provide the Court a 
response to the motion which was due no later than September 11, 
2018. See docket 28 (endorsed order granting motion for extension 
of time to file response and directing that response be filed no later 
than September 11, 2018).

2 In light of this determination, the Court need not address Bank of 
America's other grounds for dismissal. See Boda v. United States, 
698 F. 2d 1174, 1177 n.4 (11th Cir. 1983) (noting that "[w]here 
dismissal can be based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction and 
failure to state a claim, the court should dismiss on only the 
jurisdictional grounds. This dismissal is without prejudice."); accord 
Dimaio v. Democratic Nat'l Comm., 520 F. 3d 1299, 1303 (11th Cir. 
2008) (citing and quoting Boda).

3 The doctrine evolved from the two United States Supreme Court 
cases from which its name is derived, Rooker v. Fidelity Trust Co., 
263 U.S. 413, 44 S.Ct. 149, 68 L.Ed. 362 (1923) and D.C. Court of 
Appeals v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 462, 103 S.Ct. 1303, 75 L.Ed.2d 206 
(1983).
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ultimately, to review and reject a state court's judgments."). If 
a claim is one "inextricably intertwined" with a state court 
judgment and would "effectively nullify the state court 
judgment," then Rooker-Feldman bars the claim if there was 
reasonable opportunity to raise the particular claim in the state 
court proceeding. Id.

For the reasons set forth and the authority cited in fifteen 
other nearly identical cases involving alleged fraud 
perpetrated by Bank of America in facilitating illegal and 
fraudulent property foreclosures,4 this Court finds that the 
Plaintiff's claim for fraud is barred here.5 Plaintiff alleges that 
Bank of America tricked him into defaulting on the loan, 
instructed him to make "trial payments" to Bank of America 
which it never refunded, induced him to incur unnecessary 
costs for sending multiple applications for loan modification 
under the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) 
and related financial documents to Bank of America, 
damaged his credit, and caused the loss of his home and 
equity in the home. The issues of the fraud in this case 
could [*3]  have been raised in the state court foreclosure 
before final judgment was entered. It does not change the 
result that the Plaintiff alleges he did not know or could not 
have reasonably discovered the facts he now knows until he 
retained his attorney in this case. The fraud alleged here is 
inextricably intertwined with the state foreclosure judgment.

Finally, Plaintiff's request to amend the complaint embodied 
in the response to the motion to dismiss is denied for two 
reasons. First, such a request buried in a response to a motion 
is not a proper procedural mechanism for seeking the filing of 
an amended complaint. See Long v. Satz, 181 F. 3d 1275, 
1279-80 (11th Cir. 1999). Second, Plaintiff has failed to 
submit a proposed amended complaint or otherwise explain 

4 These case are cited at footnotes 1 and 8 of Bank of America's 
motion to dismiss. The Court notes that Plaintiff's primary counsel in 
those cases is Plaintiff's primary counsel in this case. The Court 
further notes that he did not appeal those orders of dismissals, the 
time for appealing has expired, and he failed to even attempt to 
distinguish them in his response to Bank of America's motion to 
dismiss.

5 See, e.g., Ocampo v. Bank of America, N.A., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
137052, 2018 WL 3862560 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 14, 2018) (citing 
Figueroa v. Merscorp, Inc., 766 F.Supp.2d 1305 (S.D. Fla. 2011), 
aff'd, 477 F. App'x 558 (11th Cir. 2012) (unpublished) and Nivia v. 
Nation Star Mortg., LLC, 620 F. App'x 822 (11th Cir. 2015) 
(unpublished)); Carmenates v. Bank of America, N.A., 2018 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 123094, 2018 WL 3548727 (M.D. Fla. July 24, 2018) 
(same). As in footnote 3 to this order, Plaintiff's primary counsel in 
that case is the same as Plaintiff's primary counsel in this case, and 
he did not appeal the order of dismissal in Carmenates and the time 
for appealing has expired.

the substance of a proposed amended complaint. Id.

DONE AND ORDERED at Tampa, Florida, on September 
13, 2018.

/s/ Richard A. Lazzara

RICHARD A. LAZZARA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

End of Document
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v. 
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Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ORDER 

 
THIS CAUSE comes before the Court on Defendant Bank of America, N.A.’s Motion and 

Memorandum in Support by Defendant Bank of America, N.A., to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Amended 

Complaint (“Motion”) [ECF No. 61]. Defendant argues, inter alia, that the Third Amended Complaint 

[ECF No. 57] should be dismissed because this Court has no subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff 

Marie Coles’s claims under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine. The Court has reviewed the Motion, the 

parties’ submissions, the record, and the applicable law. For the reasons that follow, Defendant’s 

Motion is granted. 

I. BACKGROUND1 

A. The Home Affordable Modification Program 

This case revolves around Defendant’s alleged scheme to defraud millions of homeowners 

in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis. Following the stock market crash, Congress allocated 

billions of taxpayer dollars to newly-created programs in exchange for the recipients’ agreement 

                                                           
1 For purposes of Defendant’s Motion, the Court accepts as true all facts in the Third Amended 
Complaint, save for the jurisdictional facts, which Plaintiff is required to prove as the Supreme 
Court explained in Lawrence v. Dunbar, 919 F.2d 1525, 1529 (11th Cir. 1990). See infra pp. 4–5. 



2 
 

to implement certain congressionally-specified mechanisms designed to lessen the impact of the 

financial crisis on every-day Americans.  

The Home Affordable Modification Program (“HAMP”) was intended to help borrowers 

keep their homes. To receive federal funds from HAMP, Defendant agreed to use “reasonable 

efforts” to help homeowners refinance their mortgages. The program worked as follows: a 

borrower would contact Defendant and request to refinance her loan. Defendant would screen her 

file and determine if she qualified. After receiving pre-approval (known as a HAMP Loan Workout 

Plan), the borrower entered a three-month trial phase during which she would make lower monthly 

mortgage payments and simultaneously submit financial paperwork to obtain a permanent 

modification. If payments were timely made and the paperwork was approved, the borrower’s 

mortgage would be permanently modified. After a few years of compliance with the modified 

mortgage rate, Defendant could slowly increase the interest rate in anticipation of the economy’s 

revival. Defendant received “incentive payments” from the federal government for every 

homeowner who received a HAMP modification.  

Over the past few years, several lawsuits have been filed claiming that Defendant 

fraudulently operated its HAMP program in order to retain the incentive payments and profit off 

the borrower’s losses. These lawsuits are bolstered by numerous whistleblower affidavits. In one 

such case, Defendant paid back one billion dollars of taxpayer money. See United States v. Bank 

of America, N.A., et al., No. 1:11-cv-03270 (E.D.N.Y. 2014).  

B. Factual History 

 In 2002, Plaintiff executed a mortgage and note for her home in Miami in the amount of 

approximately $80,000.00. Plaintiff’s loan was refinanced in 2004 and then again in 2006. By that 

point, Defendant serviced her mortgage. In March 2009, Plaintiff reached out to Defendant and 
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requested a HAMP modification. In June or July of the same year, Defendant’s loan representative 

advised her to stop making her regular mortgage payments because HAMP eligibility required that 

a borrower be in default. Plaintiff accordingly stopped making her payments and defaulted. 

Plaintiff received a letter from Defendant stating that she was “approved” for the modification in 

August 2009 and began making trial payments that month.  

Plaintiff then submitted financial documents in pursuit of a permanent modification. She 

received a letter from Defendant confirming their receipt on November 30, 2009. Shortly 

thereafter, Defendant told Plaintiff that some of the documents were “missing or incorrect.” 

Plaintiff resubmitted them less than a month later. Defendant found another issue with them. 

Plaintiff ultimately resubmitted her documents at least six different times in response to 

Defendant’s enquiries about lost, missing, or incorrect documents. During this time, Defendant’s 

representatives continued to advise her to stay in default.  

Because of how long it took to process her paperwork, Plaintiff’s application was never 

approved for a permanent modification. Despite this, she made six trial payments of $967.50 on 

Defendant’s instruction. Plaintiff also alleges that during this time Defendant conducted illegal 

“property inspections” on her house and charged her fees for each one. Plaintiff alleges that 

Defendant knowingly deposited her trial payments into a separate account, one not tied to her 

mortgage, so that Defendant could keep those funds for its own profit. And because Defendant did 

not apply those payments to her account, Plaintiff remained in default.  

Defendant ultimately foreclosed on Plaintiff’s home on February 10, 2014. As part of the 

foreclosure, a judgment in the amount of $329,000.05 was entered against Plaintiff in state court. 

Plaintiff now contends that Defendant’s loan officer lied to her in the initial conversations about 

her HAMP eligibility, application process, and foreclosure period, and that Defendant intentionally 
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lost her documents and delayed her application so that she would lose her home. Plaintiff claims 

that Defendant profited from her losses by keeping the trial payments and inspection fees and 

foreclosing on her home. Finally, Plaintiff asserts that she had no way of knowing about 

Defendant’s scheme before her lawyers described the lawsuits against Defendant.  

C. Procedural History 

 Plaintiff’s Third Amended Complaint, filed on August 22, 2018, asserts claims of (1) 

common law fraud – Count I and (2) violations of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices 

Act, Fla. Stat. § 501.01, et seq. – Count II.  [ECF No. 57]. Plaintiff seeks damages for (1) loss of 

funds paid to Defendant in the form of unapplied trial payments, (2) fraudulent inspections, (3) 

costs incurred for repeated attempts to send in her HAMP application, and (4) loss of equity and 

future equity in the home. [Id. ¶ 105]. Defendant filed its Motion to Dismiss on September 5, 2018. 

[ECF No. 61]. The Motion is now ripe for review.  

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

A motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction brought pursuant to Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) may present either a facial or a factual challenge to the complaint. 2 See 

McElmurray v. Consol. Gov’t, 501 F.3d 1244, 1251 (11th Cir. 2007). In a facial challenge, a court 

is required only to determine if the plaintiff has “sufficiently alleged a basis for subject matter 

jurisdiction.” Id. at 1251. Furthermore, “the court must consider the allegations in the plaintiff’s 

complaint as true.” Williamson v. Tucker, 645 F.2d 404, 412 (5th Cir. 1981).3 By contrast, a factual 

attack “challenge[s] ‘the existence of subject matter jurisdiction in fact, irrespective of the pleadings, 

                                                           
2 Defendant raises several arguments in its Motion. Because the Court agrees that it lacks subject 
matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to the Rooker-Feldman doctrine, it will not address the 
remaining arguments. 
3 The Eleventh Circuit has adopted as binding precedent all decisions of the former Fifth Circuit 
rendered before October 1, 1981. Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1207 (11th Cir. 1981) 
(en banc). 
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and matters outside the pleadings . . . are considered.’” McElmurray, 501 F.3d at 1251 (quoting 

Lawrence v. Dunbar, 919 F.2d 1525, 1529 (11th Cir. 1990)). In a factual attack, “no presumptive 

truthfulness attaches to [a] plaintiff’s allegations,” Lawrence, 919 F.2d at 1529 (citation and internal 

quotation marks omitted), and the plaintiff bears the burden to prove the facts sufficient to establish 

subject matter jurisdiction. See OSI, Inc. v. United States, 285 F.3d 947, 951 (11th Cir. 2002).  

Here, Defendant has advanced a factual attack on Plaintiff’s Third Amended Complaint 

because it contends that this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction under the Rooker-Feldman 

doctrine. See, e.g., Christophe v. Morris, 198 F. App’x 818 (11th Cir. 2006) (per curiam) (affirming a 

district court’s decision to dismiss the plaintiff’s complaint where the district court had considered 

Rooker-Feldman as a factual attack on its subject matter jurisdiction). Accordingly, this Court may 

properly consider evidence outside the pleadings in determining whether the Third Amended 

Complaint should be dismissed. 

III. DISCUSSION 

 “The Rooker-Feldman doctrine makes clear that federal district courts cannot review state 

court final judgments because that task is reserved for state appellate courts or, as a last resort, the 

United States Supreme Court.” Casale v. Tillman, 558 F.3d 1258, 1260 (11th Cir. 2009) (per 

curiam).4 The doctrine, named for Rooker v. Fidelity Trust Co., 263 U.S. 413 (1923), and District 

of Columbia Court of Appeals v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 462 (1983), “is confined to cases of the kind from 

which the doctrine acquired its name: cases brought by state-court losers complaining of injuries 

caused by state-court judgments rendered before the district court proceedings commenced and 

inviting district court review and rejection of those judgments.” Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic 

                                                           
4 There is no procedural bar to the application of the Rooker-Feldman doctrine here. The state 
foreclosure judgment was entered on February 10, 2014; Plaintiff did not appeal; and the present 
federal action was not filed until November 13, 2017. See Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. 
Corp., 544 U.S. 208, 284 (2005); Nicholson v. Shafe, 558 F.3d 1266, 1276 (11th Cir. 2009). 
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Indus. Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284 (2005). “Rooker and Feldman exhibit the limited circumstances in 

which [the Supreme Court’s] appellate jurisdiction over state-court judgments precludes a United 

States district court from exercising subject-matter jurisdiction in an action it would otherwise be 

empowered to adjudicate under a congressional grant of authority.” Id. at 291 (internal citation 

omitted). The doctrine bars federal claims raised in the state court and claims “inextricably 

intertwined” with the state court’s judgment. See Feldman, 460 U.S. at 482 n.16. “A claim is 

‘inextricably intertwined’ if it would ‘effectively nullify’ the state court judgment, or [if] it 

‘succeeds only to the extent that the state court wrongly decided the issues.’” Casale, 558 F.3d at 

1260 (quoting Goodman ex rel. Goodman v. Sipos, 259 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 2001)) (internal 

quotation marks omitted); see also Springer v. Perryman, 401 F. App’x 457, 458 (11th Cir. 2010) 

(per curiam). 

A. Count I – Common Law Fraud 

The Court finds instructive the reasoned analysis of Judge Altonaga in a virtually identical 

case. In Captain v. Bank of America, N.A., plaintiffs executed a HAMP Loan Workout Plan after 

falling behind in their mortgage payments. No. 18-60130-CIV, 2018 WL 5298538, at *1 (S.D. Fla. 

Oct. 25, 2018). They were then “approved” and began making trial payments. Id. Plaintiffs were 

repeatedly told, though, that their HAMP application documents and payments were “not 

received.” Id. Ultimately, their home was foreclosed upon. Id.  

Judge Altonaga held that the court lacked jurisdiction under Rooker-Feldman for two 

reasons.5 First, she found that plaintiffs had constructive notice of fraud before the foreclosure 

judgment was entered. Id. at *5.  Underlying her decision was that plaintiffs were aware of the 

                                                           
5 The case before Judge Altonaga was decided at summary judgment. Although the instant case 
proceeds on a Motion to Dismiss, the legal issue and analysis presented is the same because 
Rooker-Feldman is a jurisdictional bar. See Rance v. D.R. Horton, Inc., No. 07-80402-CIV, 2009 
WL 10668926, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 11, 2009), aff'd, 392 F. App’x 749 (11th Cir. 2010).  
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“irregularities” in the process: they were “approved” for a HAMP modification and had repeatedly 

submitted HAMP documents—and payments—but were told that nothing was received. Id. As 

such, “[p]laintiffs had a reasonable opportunity to raise their fraud claim” in the state court 

proceedings and were barred from doing so in federal court. Id. at *6.  Second, Judge Altonaga 

held that plaintiffs’ fraud claim was inextricably intertwined with the foreclosure action. Id. at *7. 

Judge Altonaga found that fraud was an equitable defense to foreclosure, which if raised before 

the state court would have likely changed its result. Id. Judge Altonaga also found that the 

damages, which sought compensation for the lost house and the costs spent pursuing HAMP 

modifications, were intertwined with the state court judgment because they “would effectively 

nullify the state court judgment and necessarily hold that the state court wrongly decided the 

issues.” Id. at *7 (citing Casale, 558 F.3d at 1260) (internal quotations omitted).  

The parties here have raised identical arguments. Defendant cites a litany of federal cases—

each of which “dismiss[es] actions where plaintiffs were, in reality, challenging state-foreclosure 

judgments”—and argues that Plaintiff’s claims are similarly inextricably intertwined with the state 

court judgment. Figueroa v. Merscorp, Inc., 766 F. Supp. 2d 1305, 1320 (S.D. Fla. 2011). Plaintiff 

counters that Rooker-Feldman does not apply because (1) she was unaware of the fraud at the time 

of the state court proceedings and judgment and (2) her requested damages would not disturb the 

state court judgment.  

First, the Court finds that Plaintiff had constructive notice of her fraud claim because she 

was aware of the irregular events prior to the state court judgment. Specifically, Plaintiff was aware 

of her own six modification payments and her repeated attempts to send Defendant her financial 

paperwork in response to its enquiries about lost, missing, and/or incorrect documents. Casale, 558 

F.3d at 1260; Figueroa, 766 F. Supp. 2d at 1325–26.  Thus, like the plaintiffs in Captain, she 
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“should have known of the basis of [her] fraud claim” at the time of the state court judgment. 2018 

WL 5298538, at *5.  

Second, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s suit is inextricably intertwined with the state court 

judgment. Plaintiff’s fraud claim would have constituted an equitable defense to foreclosure before 

the state court. See id. at *6 (citing Najera v. NationsBank Tr. Co., N.A., 707 So. 2d 1153, 1155 

(Fla. 5th DCA 1998)). Had she raised it at that time, she may not have lost her home. Id. This 

Court cannot retroactively provide relief for her failure to do so.  

Plaintiff also seeks damages that would “effectively nullify the state court judgment and 

necessarily hold that the state court wrongly decided the issues.” Id. at  *7 (citing Casale, 558 F.3d 

at 1260); see also Nivia v. Nation Star Mortg., LLC, 620 F. App’x 822, 825 (11th Cir. 2015) (per 

curiam) (“The inquiry is whether either the damages award would annul the effect of the state 

court judgment or the state court’s adoption of the legal theory supporting the award would have 

produced a different result.”), cert. denied Nivia v. Aurora Loan Servs., LLC, 136 S. Ct. 909 (2016). 

Plaintiff seeks compensation for lost equity and future equity in the house, HAMP payments, and 

inspection fees. These are identical to the damages sought and rejected in Captain. 2018 WL 

5298538, at *7. Here, as there, success on the merits would financially restore her loss—which, 

for practical purposes, would void the result that the state court reached. 

Plaintiff tries to dodge this bullet by arguing that Rooker-Feldman does not bar a federal 

claim simply because it may yield findings inconsistent with a state court judgment. See Exxon, 

544 U.S. at 293 (noting that jurisdiction exists “[i]f a federal plaintiff present[s] some independent 

claim, albeit one that denies a legal conclusion that a state court has reached in a case to which 

[s]he was a party” (internal quotations omitted)). Plaintiff’s claims do not fit into this exception 

because such cases are factually distinguishable. In Arthur v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, for example, 
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plaintiff sought money damages “for alleged criminal and fraudulent conduct in the generation of 

foreclosure-related documents”—the physical creation of fraudulent documents used to foreclose 

on the home. 569 F. App’x 669, 675 (11th Cir. 2014) (emphasis in original). No such allegation 

exists here. Plaintiff also does not seek damages based on Defendant’s wrongful conduct during 

the state court proceedings, see Kohler v. Garlets, 578 F. App’x 862, 864 (11th Cir. 2014), or claim 

a broader injury emanating from the state court judgment, see Nero v. Mayan Mainstreet INV 1 

LLC, et al., No. 6:14-cv-1363-Orl-40TBS, 2014 WL 12610668 at *11–12 (M.D. Fla. Nov. 13, 

2014) (asserting RICO claims based on fraudulent mortgage assignments).  

As Plaintiff seeks solely to restore her financial losses, the Court concludes that a judgment 

in her favor would necessarily annul the state court judgment. The suits are therefore inextricably 

intertwined.  

B. Count II – Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act 

The Court further finds that Rooker-Feldman bars Count II, Plaintiff’s claim for violation 

of Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. § 501.01, et seq. (“FDUTPA”). The 

Eleventh Circuit squarely addressed this issue in Nivia v. Nation Star Mortgage, LLC, holding that 

a FDUTPA challenge to deceptive trade practices of failing to modify a loan and denying fair 

opportunities to cure a default “effectively amounted to an equitable defense to the foreclosure[] 

and the adoption of that theory would have produced a different result in state court.” Captain, 

2018 WL 5298538, at *6 (citing Nivia, 620 F. App’x at 825). Had Plaintiff raised her allegations 

of fraudulent lending practices—of which she had constructive notice at the time of the state court 

judgment—she may not have lost her home. But “[b]y failing to raise [her] claim in state court[,] 

[she] forfeit[ed] [her] right to obtain review of the state court decision in any federal court.” Nivia, 

620 F. App’x at 825 (citing Feldman, 460 U.S. at 482 n.16). And now, any review of her argument 
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on the merits could end with a result that the state court entered a legally invalid judgment, which 

the Court cannot allow. Id.  

*  * * 

Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the Rooker-Feldman 

doctrine and must be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See generally Flournoy v. 

Gov’t Nat’l Mortg. Ass’n, 156 F. Supp. 3d 1375, 1380 (S.D. Fla. 2016).  

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion and 

Memorandum in Support by Defendant Bank of America, N.A., to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Amended 

Complaint [ECF No. 61] is GRANTED. Plaintiff’s Third Amended Complaint [ECF No. 57] is 

DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

All pending motions are DENIED AS MOOT. 

The Clerk is directed to mark this case CLOSED. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this 20th day of May, 2019. 

  

 

       

_________________________________ 
DARRIN P. GAYLES 

      UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE   















































































sometimes treats the defendants as one entity, (see Compl. ¶ 5), but we will treat them separately.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 
 
ALBERTO ISOLA, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. Case No: 8:17-cv-2640-T-35AEP 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 
 
 Defendant. 
  
 

ORDER  

THIS CAUSE s Response to 

29)    Having reviewed 

s 

Complaint, all relevant filings, case law, and being otherwise fully advised, the Court finds 

that this action is due to be dismissed without prejudice for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction.1   

I. BACKGROUND 

On June 27, 2017, Plaintiff and 117 others sued Bank of America in the Middle 

District of Florida in a single action, Torres et al v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-1534-

RAL-TBM.  The 292-page complaint in that action alleged fraud and the violation of 

                                            
1 Defendant Bank of America does not raise the issue of subject matter jurisdiction in its pending Motion to 
Dismiss.  However, the Court is required to consider its subject matter jurisdiction at any point during the 
proceedings sua sponte when it becomes concerned that jurisdiction is lacking.  Ellenburg v. Spartan 
Motors Chassis, Inc., 519 F.3d 192, 197 (11th Cir. 2008).  Further, the Court need not address Bank of 

that it lacks jurisdiction.  See Boda v. United States, 698 F. 2d 1174, 1177 n.4 (11th Cir. 1983) (noting that 

accord Dimaio v. 
, 520 F. 3d 1299, 1303 (11th Cir. 2008) (citing and quoting Boda). 
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to state a claim, expiration of the four-year limitation, and the absence of a private right 

to sue a bank for violating the requirements of the Home Affordable Modification Program 

complaint failed to invoke diversity jurisdiction and ordered the plaintiffs to amend.  The 

plaintiffs then filed a 403-page amended complaint.  Bank of America again moved to 

dismiss, repeating the arguments from its earlier motion.  The presiding judge found 

 the plaintiffs to sue separately.   

Then, between October 30, 2017 and November 3, 2017, more than 100 plaintiffs 

sued Bank of America in the Middle District of Florida in 80 nearly identical actions, all 

alleging one-count of fraud under Florida common law.  The actions are distributed among 

eight district judges in the Middle District.  The instant case is one of these actions. 

II. DISCUSSION 

In its Show Cause Order, the Court observed that four other judges in the Middle 

District of Florida have now dismissed their nearly identical cases involving alleged fraud 

perpetrated by Bank of America in facilitating illegal and fraudulent property foreclosures 

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under the Rooker-Feldman2 doctrine.3   

                                            
2 The doctrine evolved from the two United States Supreme Court cases from which its name is derived, 
Rooker v. Fidelity Trust Co., 263 U.S. 413 (1923) and D.C. Court of Appeals v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 462 
(1983). 
 
3 Gonzalez v. Bank of America, N.A., 5:17-cv-00519-SDM-PRL (Dkt. 44); Varela-Pietri et al v. Bank of 
America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02534-SDM-TGW (Dkt. 50); Salazar v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02535-SDM-
AEP (Dkt. 50); Diaz v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02537-SDM-MAP (Dkt. 51);  Rostgaard v. Bank of 
America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02538-SDM-CPT (Dkt. 57); Collazo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02539-RAL-
AAS (Dkt. 35); Gonzalez v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2546-RAL-CPT (Dkt. 32); Alonso et al v. Bank 
of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02547-VMC-SPF (Dkt. 62); Colon v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2548-RAL-
AAS (Dkt. 30); Colon et al v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02549-VMC-JSS (Dkt. 60); Guevara v. Bank 
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Under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine, federal courts, other than the Supreme Court, 

do not have jurisdiction to review final state court decisions.  See Target Media Partners 

v. Specialty Mktg. Corp., 881 F.3d 1279, 1285 86 (11th Cir. 2018) (explaining the Rooker-

Feldman 

the parties who have lost in state court and then ask the district court, ultimately, to review 

Rooker-

Feldman bars the claim if there was reasonable opportunity to raise the particular claim 

in the state court proceeding.  Id.  

Id. at 1286. 

s Response to the Show Cause Order argues, in sum, that the Rooker-

Feldman doctrine does not apply in this instance because his fraud claim is not an indirect 

attack on the foreclosure judgment, but rather, is a distinct claim that Bank of 

fraudulent actions resulted in a wrongful denial of a HAMP modification.  This is the same 

                                            
of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02550-SCB-JSS (Dkt. 36); Mosquea v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02551-
SDM-TGW (Dkt. 46); Peralta v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2580-SDM-MAP (Dkt. 56); Gonzalez v. 
Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2581-RAL-AAS; (Dkt. 29); Restrepo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-
2582-RAL-CPT (Dkt. 30); Rodriguez v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02583-SDM-TGW (Dkt. 51); Santos 
v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02585-VMC-AEP (Dkt. 63); Ruiz v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-
02586-SDM-TGW (Dkt. 41); Rosselini v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02584-SCB-CPT (Dkt. 29); Santos 
v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02587-SCB-SPF (Dkt. 29); Santos v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-
2588-SDM-MAP (Dkt. 47); Urtiaga et al v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02590-SCB-CPT (Dkt. 30); 
Acosta v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2592-SDM-AAS (Dkt. 55); Blanco v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-
cv-02593-SDM-JSS (Dkt. 48); Cedeno v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2594-RAL-AAS (Dkt. 33); 
Penaranda v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2599-RAL-SPF (Dkt. 31); Garcia v. Bank of America, N.A., 
8:17-cv-02602-SDM-AAS (Dkt. 46); Zalazar v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02603-SDM-CPT (Dkt. 48); 
Perez v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17- cv-02623-SDM-JSS (Dkt. 50); Moncada et al v. Bank of America, 
N.A., 8:17-cv-02625-SDM-AEP (Dkt. 45); Espinel v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02628-SDM-JSS (Dkt. 
44); Ocampo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2631-SDM-JSS (Dkt. 42); Carmenates v. Bank of America, 
N.A., 8:17-cv-2635-SDM-JSS (Dkt. 50); Clavelo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2644-RAL-TGW (Dkt. 
29); Valencia et al v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02645-SCB-
counsel in all of these cases is the same as in the instant case. 
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argument that was thoroughly considered and rejected by the other four judges of the 

Middle District in the above-listed cases, whose reasoning the Court adopts here.  Thus, 

s response fails to show satisfactory cause why this case should not be dismissed 

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Bank of America tricked him into 

defaulting on his loan by telling him that it was a prerequisite for HAMP modification 

eligibility, instructed him 

to his account or refunded, charged fraudulent inspection fees that added to the 

foreclosure judgment, induced him to incur unnecessary costs for sending multiple 

applications for a HAMP loan modification and related financial documents to Bank of 

America, damaged his credit, and caused the loss of his home and equity in that home.  

The issues of alleged fraud in this case are alleged to have preceded the foreclosure.  As 

such, these issues could have been raised in the state court foreclosure action before 

final judgment was entered.  See Nivia v. Nation Star Mortg., LLC

(11th Cir. 2015); Shahar v. Green Tree Servicing LLC, 125 So.3d 251, 252 54 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2013) (finding unclean hands to be a sufficiently pled affirmative defense to 

foreclosure where a lender made material misrepresentations in connection with the 

mortgage).   

s damages, which principally stem from the loss of 

s home and the equity in that home a loss occasioned by the foreclosure 

judgment itself, would effectively nullify the entry of that judgment.  See Santos v. Bank 

of America, N.A., Defendant., No. 8:17-CV-2585-T-33AEP, 2018 WL 5024335 (M.D. Fla. 
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ts 

Plaintiff alleges he was unaware of the facts he now knows until he retained his attorney 

in this case.4   

Therefore, for the reasons set forth, and authority cited, by the four other judges of 

the Middle District in the over thirty aforementioned virtually identical cases, the Court 

finds the fraud alleged here is inextricably intertwined with the state foreclosure judgment, 

s claims are barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.5 

III. CONCLUSION 

Upon consideration of the foregoing, the Court hereby ORDERS as follows: 

1. 16), is DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine. 

2. The Clerk is directed to TERMINATE all pending motions and CLOSE this case.  

DONE and ORDERED in Tampa, Florida, this 30th day of October, 2018. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
4 The Court notes that the conduct that Plaintiff claims was hidden from him could have been discovered 
by Plaintiff during the state foreclosure action.  As Plaintiff recognizes in his Amended Complaint, (Dkt. 16 
at 9 ement of the HAMP modification process 
were being litigated by other plaintiffs nationally, such that in 2010, the judicial panel on multidistrict litigation 
transferred several cases to the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts for 
consolidated pretrial proceedings.  See In re Bank of America Home Affordable Modification Program 
(HAMP) Contract Litigation, M.D.L. No. 1:10-md-02193-RWZ.   
 
5 See, e.g., Ocampo v. Bank of America, N.A., No. 8:17-CV-2631-T-23JSS, 2018 WL 3862560 (M.D. Fla. 
Aug. 14, 2018) (citing Figueroa v. Merscorp, Inc., 766 F. Supp. 2d 1305 (S.D. Fla. 2011), 
558 (11th Cir. 2012) (unpublished) and Nivia v. Nation Star Mortg.
(unpublished)); Carmenates v. Bank of America, N.A., No. 8:17-CV-2635-T-23JSS, 2018 WL 3548727 
(M.D. Fla. July 24, 2018) (same). 
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Opinion

STATEMENT OF DECISION GRANTING 
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

The Court, having read the Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's First 
Amended Complaint (Dkt. No. 23 ("FAC")) filed by 
Defendant Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA") (Dkt. No. 27 
("Motion" or "Mtn.")), along with all opposing and supporting 
papers, hereby GRANTS the Motion without leave to amend 
for the reasons set forth below:

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff asserts a single claim for fraud against BANA. On 
August 19, 2005, Plaintiff obtained a mortgage loan of 
$300,000.00 from Bankers Express Mortgage, Inc., secured 
by a deed of trust on real property located at 11544 Vanport 
Avenue, Lakeview Terrace, California 91342 (the 
"Property"). Deft's [*2]  Req. for Judicial Notice (Dkt. No. 
27-1 ("RJN")), ¶ 1, Ex. A.1 Plaintiff alleges that in May of 
2009 after experiencing financial hardship, she contacted 
BANA, which had taken over the servicing of her loan, to 
request a loan modification under the federal government's 
HAMP program. FAC, ¶ 38.

Plaintiff alleges that on May 10, 2009, BANA advised her to 
refrain from making her regular payments because a default 
on her loan was a prerequisite for HAMP eligibility. FAC, ¶ 
40. On August 12, 2009, Plaintiff alleges that she received a 
HAMP application, which she claims she completed and 
returned to BANA. Id., ¶ 43. However, BANA purportedly 
informed Plaintiff between August 22, 2009 and December 

1 The Court grants BANA's Request for Judicial Notice, and takes 
judicial notice of the various recorded documents attached to the 
RJN.
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17, 2010 that her documents were either not received, 
incomplete, or outdated, and, thus, she submitted various 
documentation on more than ten occasions. Id., ¶¶ 44-48.

Plaintiff claims that in October of 2009, she received a letter 
from BANA indicating that she had been "approved" for a 
HAMP modification and was to make trial payments. FAC, ¶ 
51. Plaintiff contends that this was false, and her application 
was not approved. Id. However, in reliance on this letter, 
Plaintiff purportedly sent in eight [*3]  monthly payments of 
less than what she contractually owed in 2009. Id., ¶ 55. 
Plaintiff claims that instead of applying her trial payments to 
her loan, BANA applied the payments to an "unapplied" 
account and used some of these funds for inspection costs 
between 2008 and 2010. Id., ¶¶ 53, 58, 62.

A notice of default was recorded on September 1, 2010, 
indicating that Plaintiff had failed to make her October 2008 
mortgage payment, along with all subsequent payments, 
resulting in an arrearage of $54,578.77. RJN, ¶ 2, Ex. B. This 
notice of default was rescinded on January 8, 2013. Id., ¶ 3, 
Ex. C. However, a subsequent notice of default was recorded 
on March 20, 2013, indicating that Plaintiff had failed to 
make her November 2008 mortgage payment, along with all 
subsequent payments, resulting in an outstanding arrearage of 
$116,124.61. RJN, ¶ 4, Ex. D.

Plaintiff failed to cure her outstanding arrearage, and a notice 
of trustee's sale was recorded on September 2, 2014, 
indicating that her total outstanding indebtedness was 
$422,179.13. RJN, ¶ 5, Ex. E. Plaintiff failed to remedy her 
default, and as a result, her property was sold at a trustee's 
sale on September 30, 2014, with a trustee's [*4]  deed upon 
sale being recorded on October 10, 2014. Id., ¶ 6, Ex. F.

II. STANDARD ON MOTIONS TO DISMISS

A Rule 12(b)(6) motion tests the legal sufficiency of the 
claims asserted in the complaint. A Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is 
proper only where there is either a "lack of a cognizable legal 
theory," or "the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a 
cognizable legal theory." Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep't, 
901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1988). The court must accept all 
factual allegations pleaded in the complaint as true, and 
construe them and draw all reasonable inferences from them 
in favor of the nonmoving party. Cahill v. Liberty Mut. Ins. 
Co., 80 F.3d 336, 337-38 (9th Cir. 1996). However, the court 
need not accept as true unreasonable inferences or conclusory 
legal allegations couched in the form of factual allegations. 
See Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S. 
Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007).

III. PLAINTIFF'S FRAUD CLAIM IS TIME-BARRED.

To state a claim for fraud, a plaintiff must allege: (1) a 
misrepresentation; (2) knowledge of falsity; (3) intent to 
defraud; (4) justifiable reliance; and (5) resulting damages. In 
addition, under Rule 9(b), fraud allegations are subject to a 
higher pleading standard and must be specifically pleaded. 
Glen Holly Entertainment, Inc. v. Tektronix, Inc., 100 F. 
Supp. 2d 1086, 1093-94 (C.D. Cal. 1999). Rule 9(b) requires 
plaintiffs alleging fraud against a corporate entity to 
specifically allege: (1) the misrepresentation, (2) the speaker 
and his or her authority to speak, (3) when and where [*5]  the 
statements were made, (4) whether the statements were oral or 
written, (5) if statements were written, the specific documents 
containing the representations, and (6) the manner in which 
the representations were allegedly false or misleading. Moore 
v. Kayport Package Express, Inc., 885 F.2d 531, 537 (9th Cir. 
1989). Further, fraud claims are governed by a three-year 
statute of limitations. See Johnson v. Bank of Am., N.A., 2015 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 161800, at *6 (C.D. Cal. 2015) (citing Cal. 
Code Civ. Proc. § 338(d)).

In this case, Plaintiff's claim is predicated upon the following 
alleged statements by BANA: (i) in May of 2009, BANA 
advised Plaintiff that she was required to be in default prior to 
being eligible for a HAMP modification (FAC, ¶¶ 40, 81); (ii) 
between August 22, 2009 and December 17, 2010, BANA 
informed Plaintiff that her loan modification applications 
were incomplete (id., ¶¶ 44, 46, 56, 82); and (iii) on August 
16, 2009, BANA informed Plaintiff that she had been 
approved for a modification and that she needed to make trial 
payments on her loan. Id., ¶¶ 51, 83.

The initiation, and ultimately the completion, of foreclosure 
proceedings provided undisputable evidence to Plaintiff that 
she would not receive a loan modification. The notice of 
default was recorded on March 20, 2013 (RJN, Ex. D), with 
the notice of trustee's sale being recorded on September [*6]  
2, 2014. Id., Ex. E. Finally, the Property was sold at a trustee's 
sale on September 30, 2014. Id., Ex. F. Once the Property was 
foreclosed upon, Plaintiff had clear and undisputed evidence 
that she would not receive a loan modification.

Thus, Plaintiff was required to bring her fraud claim no later 
than three years after her property was sold at foreclosure, or 
September 30, 2017. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 338(d). However, 
Plaintiff did not file this action until November 8, 2017, over 
one month after the expiration of the statute of limitations. 
Accordingly, Plaintiff's fraud claim is barred by the statute of 
limitations, and because no amendment could cure the instant 
defect, Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint is dismissed 
without leave to amend.



Page 3 of 4

Amy Breitling

IV. PLAINTIFF CANNOT AVAIL HERSELF OF THE 
DELAYED DISCOVERY RULE.

To rescue her claim, Plaintiff asserts that the delayed 
discovery doctrine relieves her from the statute of limitations 
bar, alleging that BANA somehow "concealed" its fraudulent 
behavior such that Plaintiff had no knowledge of it until she 
retained an attorney and, therefore, the statute of limitations 
should have been tolled. FAC, ¶¶ 68-78. The discovery rule is 
an exception to the general rule for defining [*7]  the accrual 
of a cause of action and it "postpones accrual of a cause of 
action until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, 
the cause of action." E-Fab, Inc. v. Accountants, Inc. Services 
(2007)153 Cal. App. 4th 1308, 1319, 64 Cal. Rptr. 3d 9 
(quotation omitted). The discovery rule applies to fraud 
actions. See Code Civ. Proc. § 338(d). A plaintiff whose 
complaint shows on its face "that his claim would be barred 
without the benefit of the discovery rule must specifically 
plead facts to show (1) the time and manner of discovery and 
(2) the inability to have made earlier discovery despite 
reasonable diligence." Id. at 1319. Further, "[t]he burden is on 
the plaintiff to show diligence, and conclusory allegations will 
not withstand demurrer." Id. The first prong requires plaintiffs 
to allege "facts showing the time and surrounding 
circumstances of the discovery of the cause of action upon 
which they rely." Id. at 1324.

In this case, Plaintiff cannot benefit from the discovery rule. 
Plaintiff's entire argument related to the discovery rule 
regards testimony in an unrelated matter and, thus, involves 
testimony about unrelated loans. FAC, ¶¶ 68-78. Therefore, 
Plaintiff has failed to show how, for this particular loan, 
BANA concealed any actions or inactions from her. In 
addition, as it regards the [*8]  first two allegations of fraud 
stated above, Plaintiff could have discovered the requirements 
for a HAMP modification to determine the truth of BANA's 
statement and because Plaintiff was one completing the 
application, she clearly knew whether it contained all the 
information requested by BANA. Finally, as it relates to the 
third allegation of fraud, Plaintiff clearly knew she did not 
obtained any trial modification as of September 30, 2014, 
when the Property was sold at a foreclosure sale. RJN, Ex. F. 
For these reasons, at the very latest, Plaintiff would have been 
aware of her fraud claim by the date of the foreclosure sale, 
September 30, 2014.

Furthermore, California law recognizes "a general, rebuttable 
presumption that plaintiffs have knowledge of the wrongful 
cause of an injury." Thus, it is the plaintiff's burden to allege 
and establish facts showing the time and manner of discovery 
of defendant's wrongdoing and inability to discover it earlier. 
Grisham v. Philip Morris U.S.A., Inc., 40 Cal. 4th 623, 638, 

54 Cal. Rptr. 3d 735, 151 P.3d 1151 (2007). In this case, 
Plaintiff has failed to satisfy her burden.

V. PLAINTIFF CANNOT RELY ON AMERICAN PIPE 
TOLLING.

Plaintiff also claims that her cause of action for fraud is tolled 
because of a pending class action in Colorado District 
Court. [*9]  Opposition to Motion (Dkt. No. 33) at 8:17-9:4. 
Plaintiff cites American Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 
538, 94 S. Ct. 756, 38 L. Ed. 2d 713 (1974) for the proposition 
that the commencement of a class action suspends the 
applicable statute of limitations "as to all asserted members of 
the class who would have been parties." Opp., at 8:20-25. 
However, the case Plaintiff asserts should toll the instant 
action, George v. Urban Settlement Servs., et al. 1:13-cv-
01819 ("George"), was initiated on July 10, 2013, and the 
various class members in George only assert claims for: (i) 
violation of Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations 
Act, 18 U.S. C. § 1962(c) ("RICO") and (ii) promissory 
estoppel. In addition, the sub-class of plaintiffs asserting the 
promissory estoppel claims is limited to eighteen states,2 but 
not California.

None of the classes of plaintiffs in George asserts a claim 
under California state law, and none of the classes of 
plaintiffs assert a claim for fraud. Therefore, Plaintiff's claims 
in this case would not render her a party to George, and 
because her claims do not fall under the scope of the George 
action, the statute of limitations cannot be tolled under 
American Pipe.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, BANA's Motion is 
GRANTED. Plaintiff's First Amended [*10]  Complaint is 
DISMISSED WITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND, and this 
action is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: March 15, 2018

/s/ John F. Walter

HON. JOHN F. WALTER

2 This sub-class includes plaintiffs from: Alabama, Arizona, 
Arkansas, Colorado, Idaho, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, 
Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Oregon, 
Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Washington, and Wisconsin.
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OPINION

I

Before the Court are a series of motions filed by the 
Defendant JP Morgan Chase Bank f/k/a National Bank of 
Detroit ("Chase") and Bodman LLP ("Bodman"). Two of the 
Motions seek summary disposition of the Plaintiffs 
Complaint. Chase argues that the Complaint is barred by the 
statute of limitations and/or res judicata and, therefore must 
be dismissed pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(7), (8) and (10). 
Chase further argues that the individual Plaintiffs must 
indemnify Chase and Bodman for the fees and costs incurred 
in defending this action pursuant to an indemnification 
provision in a Settlement Agreement executed by each of the 
individual Plaintiffs. Bodman argues that it is entitled to 
summary disposition pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (8) for 
the reasons stated in the Motion filed by Chase. In addition, 
the Defendants also have filed a motion to strike the Plaintiff's 
Amended Complaint - a [*2]  pleading adding a fraud claim 
which was filed without leave during the pendency of the 
instant motions for summary disposition. The Defendants, in 
essence, argue that any fraud claim is futile and does not 
salvage the Plaintiffs' case. Extensive oral argument regarding 
the Motions was conducted on January 18, 2007.

II

A

A motion for summary disposition pursuant to MCR 
2.116(C)(7) is proper if the cause of action is barred, inter 
alia, because of the expiration of the applicable statute of 
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limitation before commencement of the action or by res 
judicata. In determining whether a party is entitled to 
judgment as a matter of law pursuant to MCR 2.117(C)(7), a 
court must accept as true a plaintiff's well pleaded factual 
allegations and construe them in favor of the plaintiff's favor, 
unless contradicted by submitted documentary evidence. 
Terrace Land Development Corp v Seeligson & Jordan, 250 
Mich App 452, 455 (2002). A party may, but is not obligated, 
to support a (C)(7) motion by affidavits, depositions, or other 
documentary evidence. If such material is submitted, it must 
be considered. Maiden v Rozwood, 461 Mich 109, 119 (1999); 
MCR 2.116(G)(5).

If the facts are not in dispute and reasonable minds could not 
differ concerning the legal effect of those facts, whether a 
claim is barred by a statute of limitation or res judicata is a 
question for the court [*3]  to decide as a matter of law. 
Jackson Co Hog Producers v Consumers Power Co, 234 
Mich App 72, 77 (1999). However, if a material factual 
dispute exists, summary disposition is inappropriate. Id.

B

A motion under MCR 2.116(C)(8) tests the legal sufficiency 
of the complaint. All well-pleaded factual allegations are 
accepted as true. Maiden, supra at 120. Thus, a motion under 
MCR 2.116(C)(8) may be granted only where the claims 
alleged are "so clearly unenforceable as a matter of law that 
no factual development could possibly justify recovery." Id., 
quoting Wade v Dep't of Corrections, 439 Mich 158, 163 
(1992). When deciding a motion brought under this court rule, 
a court considers only the pleadings. MCR 2.116(G)(5); 
Maiden, supra.

C

A motion for summary disposition pursuant to MCR 
2.116(C)(10) tests the sufficiency of the factual basis 
underlying a claim. See, e.g., Radtke v Everett, 442 Mich 368, 
374 (1993); Quinto v Cross & Peters, Co, 451 Mich 358, 362 
(1996). Accordingly, "[i]n evaluating a motion for summary 
disposition brought under this subsection, a trial court 
considers affidavits, pleadings, depositions, admissions, and 
other evidence submitted by the parties, MCR 2.116(G)(5), in 
the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. 
Where the proffered evidence fails to establish a genuine 
issue regarding any material fact, the moving party is entitled 
to judgment as a matter of law." Maiden v Rozwood, 461 
Mich 109, 119-120 (1999), citing MCR Z116(C)(10) and 

(G)(4); Quinto, supra. 1 Substantively admissible 
documentary evidence "must" be submitted by both the [*4]  
moving and non-moving parties. MCR 2.116 (G)(3) - (G)(6); 
Smith v Globe Life Ins Co, 460 Mich 446, 454 (1999). The 
moving party "has the initial burden of supporting its position 
by affidavits, depositions, admissions or other documentary 
evidence. The burden then shifts to the opposing party to 
establish a genuine issue of disputed fact." Quinto, supra at 
362. In so doing, the non-moving party must go beyond the 
pleadings to "set forth specific facts at the time of the motion 
showing that a genuine issue of material fact" exists. Id. 
(emphasis supplied). The Supreme Court has elaborated:

A litigant's mere pledge to establish a fact at trial cannot 
survive summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10). 
The Court rule plainly requires the adverse party to set 
forth specific facts at the time of the motion showing a 
genuine issue for trial [Maiden, supra at 121 (emphasis 
added).]

Accord MCR 2.116(G)(4) ("When a motion under subrule 
(C)(10) is made and supported as provided in this rule, an 
adverse party may not rest upon mere allegations or denials of 
his or her pleading, but must by affidavits or as otherwise 
provided in this rule, set forth specific facts showing that there 
is a genuine issue for trial").

Thus, the reviewing court should evaluate a motion for 
summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10) by considering 
the substantively admissible evidence [*5]  actually proffered 
in opposition to the motion. A reviewing court may not 
employ a standard citing the mere possibility that a claim may 
be supported by evidence produced at trial. A mere promise is 
insufficient under the Rules of Court. Maiden, supra at 21.

III

In the instant case, the Plaintiffs filed their original Complaint 
on July 24, 2006 asserting breach of fiduciary duty and 
conspiracy claims against Chase f/k/a Bank One (hereinafter 
"Chase") in its capacity as co-Trustee of the now dissolved 
Richard T. Sahlin Trust (the "Trust") and Bodman, in its 
capacity as attorney to the Trust.2 Count I alleges that on July 
24, 2000, Chase breached its obligations as co-Trustee by 
subordinating the Trust's security interest in the assets of 

1 Thus, it is within this context of analysis that a court must be 
satisfied that it is impossible for the claim to be supported at trial 
because of some deficiency which cannot be overcome.

2 Chase was represented in its fiduciary capacity by Bodman. 
Complaint at ¶ 33. Greenhalgh, a Bodman partner, was the other co-
trustee and co-personal representative.
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Sahlin International, Inc. ("SII"), a Michigan corporation, 
"which compromised the secured position of the Trust"3 and 
that Bodman breached its obligations as attorney to the Trust 
in providing advice to the Trustee (Chase) regarding the effect 
of executing the related Subordination Agreement. Complaint 
dated 7/24/06, ¶¶ 26, 33, 40-44.4 Count II, entitled 
Conspiracy, alleges that the Defendants conspired together to 
accomplish the fiduciary duty breaches. [*6]  In particular, 
Count II alleges that Chase and Bodman "knew and 
understood that subordinating the secured interest in the assets 
of [SII] to a different entity would place in jeopardy the 
ability of the Trust and its successors in interest to collect the 
remaining amounts of principal and accrued interest due to 
the Trust under the Promissory Note," that the Defendants 
"also knew that Chase was owed substantial sums by SII that 
were at risk of non-payment;" that the Defendants "conspired 
together to cause the subordination of the security interests of 
the Trust in the assets of SII so that SII could achieve a new 
loan that would enable it discharge its outstanding obligation 
owed to Defendant Chase;" and that the Defendants took 

3 SII was one of the Trust's assets. The Plaintiffs' Response 
acknowledges that the trustees authorized Trust assets to be loaned to 
SII during the time the Trust managed SII. In 1998, the Trust 
executed an agreement to sell SII. (Response Ex A.) The purchase 
price was to be paid in part by a promissory note. (Plaintiff's Ex B.) 
The Note was to be secured by the grant of a first priority perfected 
security interest granted by SII in its machinery and equipment. 
(Plaintiff's Ex A, ¶ 5; Plaintiff's Ex C reflecting that security interests 
had already been granted). While serving as trustee, Chase, in its 
capacity as a bank made loans to SII.

4 In particular, the Complaint alleges that" [o]n or about July 24, 
2000 the trustee caused the Trust to execute a subordination 
agreement to North Oakland Bank which compromised the secured 
position of the Trust upon the assets of SII by subordinating the 
security interest of the Trust in favor of North Oakland Bank" (Id. at 
¶26); that "[a]s a result of the failure of SII and the subordination of 
its security interest, the Trust never received an additional payment 
pursuant to the promissory note and never received any payment 
based on its subordinated security interest in the assets of SII [and] 
suffered a complete loss of the remaining principal balance and all 
accrued interest under the Promissory Note" (Id. at ¶ 32); that "the 
action of the trustee [Chase] in seeking the satisfaction of its own 
obligations from SII to be satisfied by causing the Trust to 
subordinate its own security interest in SII assets was taken without 
notice to the Sahlins [Plaintiffs], the beneficiaries of the Trust" (Id. at 
¶ 34); that "Chase received direct benefit from this 'new' banking 
relationship and the execution of the subordination agreement in that 
SII paid in full all of its then existing obligations to Chase" (Id. at ¶ 
35); that "the Sahlins were not informed of the payoff of the 
obligations of SII to Defendant Chase" (Id. at ¶ 36); and that the 
foregoing allegations which are incorporated into Count I provide 
the factual basis for the breaches of fiduciary duties alleged in Count 
I (Id. at ¶¶ 40,41-44.)

"action in furtherance of this conspiracy by execution of the 
subordination agreement." (Complaint dated 7/14/06 at ¶¶ 48-
51.)

There is no factual dispute that the Complaint was filed nearly 
six years after the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty and 
conspiracy at issue in this litigation occurred. The Complaint 
also was filed despite the execution of a Settlement 
Agreement on August 9, 2001 - more than one year after the 
alleged fiduciary duty [*7]  breach and conspiracy. (Chase Ex 
D.) The Settlement Agreement was executed by each of the 
individual Plaintiffs as beneficiaries of the Trust and the 
Estate of Richard T. Sahlin (the "Estate") and by Chase and 
Bodman attorney, Stephen I. Greenhalgh, as co-Trustees of 
the Trust. (Chase Ex D.) The Settlement Agreement provides, 
in relevant part:

Disputes and Controversies

7. Disputes have arisen between and among the 
Beneficiaries [i.e., the individual plaintiffs] and the co-
fiduciaries [Chase and Greenhalgh], which disputes 
concern the interpretation and administration of the 
Trust, the respective entitlement of the Beneficiaries to 
various estate and trust assets, the amount of trust assets 
to be set aside for the Beneficiaries, apportionment of 
estate taxes, allocation of expenses, alleged breaches of 
fiduciary duty, wrongful withholding of discretionary 
distributions of principal, the existence of claims for 
malpractice, and other matters, and objections to 
accountings previously filed. Some but not all of those 
disputes are more fully documented in records and files 
of the Probate Courts for Oakland County, and the 
Michigan Court of Appeals. Some but not all of the 
disputes and objections [*8]  have been fully resolved by 
said courts.

8. In addition to the disputes concerning the Estate and 
Trust, certain of the Beneficiaries . . . have asserted 
separate claims for individual damages against Bank One 
[Chase] for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and other 
wrongdoing. ...

9. Legal fees and expenses in connection with the 
disputes are large and growing, and are anticipated to 
continue in view of unresolved issues still before various 
courts and other issues that may be raised in the future.

* * *

The Parties' Desire for Settlement, Mutual Releases and 
Discharge

17. The Beneficiaries and co-fiduciaries mutually desire 
to settle all present and future disputes concerning the 
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Estate and Trust, avoid further litigation and eliminate 
any uncertainty that may exist regarding the validity, 
interpretation or administration of the Trust, including 
matters related to the accountings or other matters which 
were or could have been raised in the Estate or Trust 
proceedings, and avoid the continued expenses of 
litigation and the potential filing further lawsuits and 
claims.

18. Bank One [Chase] and all other parties further desire 
to compromise and forever terminate and release all 
claims by [*9]  any of the Hoops clients concerning their 
individual claims.

* * *

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of their mutual 
promises, the parties agree as follows:

* * *
2. Upon the Effective Date, the following shall occur:

* * *

c. Each of the beneficiaries shall deliver to counsel 
for the co-fiduciaries five fully executed releases in 
the forma attached. The Christine Sahlin release is 
at Exhibit B; the Bruce Sahlin release is at Exhibit 
C; the Eric Sahlin release is at Exhibit D; the Glenn 
Sahlin release is at Exhibit E; and the Bridget 
Sahlin Van Arnem release is at Exhibit F.

d. Counsel for each Beneficiary shall approve for 
entry, in the form attached as Exhibit G, a dismissal 
with prejudice of all objections, challenges, 
petitions, claims, or other proceedings of any nature 
filed on behalf of the Beneficiary with respect to the 
Trust and/or Estate or in any manner pertaining to 
Grennhalgh or Bank One [Chase].

3. From and after the Effective Date, the Beneficiaries 
and SFLP shall jointly and severally protect, indemnify, 
and hold harmless each of Greenhalgh and Bank One 
[Chase], and each of their present and former agents, 
employees, officers, shareholders, and attorneys, from 
and against all [*10]  loss, damage or expense (including 
legal fees and expenses) which any of them may pay, 
sustain or incur as a result of any action, proceeding, 
claim or demand (i) arising out of or in any manner 
related to the Estate or Trust or this Agreement; or (ii) by 
reason of any action or proceeding brought to set aside or 
invalidate this Agreement for any reason whatsoever....
4. Each signatory of this Agreement hereby waives his, 

her or its right to appeal any order or decree of any court 
approving this Agreement or any action contemplated 
hereby, and all orders contemplated by this Agreement 
shall contains such provisions.

* * *
6. Each Beneficiary hereby acknowledges that he or she 
has consulted with legal counsel prior to executing this 
Agreement and understands his or her rights under the 
Trust and Michigan law.
7. Each person's consent to this Agreement shall be 
binding upon his, her or its heirs, personal 
representatives, successors in interest and assigns to the 
maximum extent allowed by Michigan law, including 
MCL 700.143.

* * *

9. This Agreement supercedes all prior agreements and 
understandings between the parties with respect to all 
matters relating to the Estate and/or Trust... [Chase Ex D 
(emphasis [*11]  supplied).]

Attached as Chase Exhibit E are the Releases required by 
Paragraph 2(c) of the Settlement Agreement which were 
executed by all of the Beneficiaries but Eric Sahlin. Except 
for claims arising under the Settlement Agreement, those 
Releases discharge Chase and Bodman from "any and all 
claims, actions, causes of action, liabilities demands, rights, 
payment obligations, damages and costs of every kind, known 
or unknown, accrued or unaccrued . . . and including any 
claims or demands which could be asserted by or in the name 
of Sahlin International, Inc." (Chase Ex E, ¶E [emphasis 
supplied].)

Additionally, in accordance with their Settlement Agreement 
obligations, counsel for all of the individual Plaintiffs 
stipulated to the Order Approving Settlement Agreement 
under MCL 700.7207, Terminating Trust and Discharging 
Successor Trustees. (Chase Exs F-G.) The Order was entered 
on August 10, 2001. (Id.)

IV

Count I [Breach of Fiduciary Duty] - Both Versions of the 
Complaint

Regardless of the Settlement Agreement or which version of 
the Complaint is reviewed, Count I (breach of fiduciary 
duties) is time-barred.
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There is no dispute that a breach of fiduciary claim, which 
sounds in tort, is subject to the [*12]  three-year general 
statute of limitations contained in MCL 600.5805(10). Miller 
v Magline, 76 Mich App 284, 313 (1977) (construing 
precursor statute but holding that three limitations period 
contained in the general statute of limitations provision 
applies to breach of fiduciary duty claims). Similarly, a 
conspiracy claim also is subject to a three year limitations 
period. Mays v Three Rivers Rubber Corp, 135 Mich App 42, 
47 (1984); Romero v Paragon Steel Div Portec Inc, 116 Mich 
App 261, 265 (1982).

A tort claim generally accrues "at the time the wrong upon 
which the claim is based was done regardless of the time 
when damage results." MCL 600.5827. Where a claim is 
fraudulently concealed by a person who is or may be liable 
for it, the "action may be commenced at any time within 2 
years after the person who is entitled to bring the action, 
discovers, or should have discovered, the existence of the 
claim or the identity of the person who is liable for the claims, 
although the action would otherwise be barred by the period 
of limitations." MCL 600.5855 [fraudulent concealment of 
claim, discovery]. However, in order to invoke the two year 
discovery rule of MCL 600.5855, a plaintiff must expressly 
plead in the complaint that (i) defendant fraudulently 
concealed the existence of the claim; (ii) plaintiff failed to 
discover the operative facts within the limitations period that 
are the basis for the cause of [*13]  action; and (iii) plaintiff 
exercised due diligence to discover these facts. Sills v 
Oakland General Hosp, 200 Mich App 303, 310 (1996). In 
any event, the discovery rule period begins to run when the 
plaintiff becomes aware of the existence of a "possible cause 
of action . . .. The plaintiff need not know for certain that he 
had a claim, or even know of a likely claim before the . . . 
period would begin. Rather, the discovery rule period begins 
to run when, on the basis of objective facts, the plaintiff 
should have known of a possible cause of action . . ." Soloway 
v Oakwood General Hosp, 454 Mich 214, 221-222 (1997).

Applying these principles to the instant case, both versions of 
Count I are time barred. The Plaintiffs' Response effectively 
concedes that their breach of fiduciary duty and conspiracy 
claims are time-barred unless the applicable three year statute 
of limitations was extended under MCL 600.5855 for 
fraudulent concealment as this is the Plaintiffs' exclusive 
argument in opposition to dismissal of Count I on the basis 
that it is time-barred. Response at 11-13. However, contrary 
to the Plaintiffs' arguments, neither version of the Complaint 
pleads the fraudulent concealment elements articulated in 
Sills, supra. For example, nowhere does either version of the 
Complaint allege that the Plaintiffs exercised due 
diligence [*14]  to discover the operative facts or that they 
were unable to do so within the limitations period. 

Additionally, neither version of the Complaint cites MCL 
600.5855 or uses the terms "fraudulent concealment" or 
"fraudulently concealed."

Furthermore, although both versions of the Complaint allege 
that the subordination of the Trust's security interest in SII 
and related subordination agreement was done without notice 
to the Sahlin Plaintiffs or that Chase directly benefited from 
the subordination transaction, the Plaintiffs nevertheless 
concede that "after the turn of the year 2001" the 
"Beneficiaries" - i.e., the individual Plaintiffs - were, in fact, 
notified that "the trustee had subordinated the trust interest." 
(Response at 4 citing Exhibit K.) Thus, because the Plaintiffs 
admit that they learned of the subordination in 2001 and 
because nothing in their pleadings or Response suggests or 
infers that their present claims are based on additional facts 
gleaned after 2001, there can be no doubt that the Plaintiffs 
were on notice of a "possible" cause of action against the 
Defendants in 2001, and any two year extension of the statute 
of limitations for fraudulent concealment expired in 2003.

The Plaintiff [*15]  Partnership was not even legally created 
until January 2002, after the alleged wrongs occurred. 
(Plaintiffs' Response at 15; Chase Ex A.)5 As such, no duties 
were owed to the non-existent Partnership when the alleged 
wrongdoing occurred. Accordingly, the Plaintiff Partnership 
has failed to demonstrate that it has standing even to assert a 
breach of fiduciary obligation claim. Howe v Detroit Free 
Press, 219 Mich App 150, 155 (1996) ("if no duty exists, a 
court may properly grant summary disposition to the 
defendant"); National Wildlife Fed'n v Cleveland Cliffs Iron 
Co, 471 Mich 608, 628-629 (2004) (where a party lacks 
standing, their claim must be dismissed).

In any event, the Plaintiff Partnership signed the Settlement 
Agreement (even though the Plaintiffs assert and concede that 
the Partnership was not legally created until January 2002 as 
confirmed by Chase Ex A). Accordingly, to the extent the 
Plaintiff Partnership existed in 2001, it too was on notice of a 
"possible" cause of action. After all, the Plaintiff Partnership 
is comprised of and controlled by the individual Plaintiffs 
who were on notice of a "possible" cause of action in early 
2001.

V

5 There is no dispute that the Partnership was created to purchase, 
hold, develop, lease and/or resell the property acquired from the 
Trust (and Estate). (Chase Ex A.)
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Count II

A

Original Complaint

Because an allegation of conspiracy must be coupled with a 
substantive theory of liability in order to sustain a cause of 
action, Count II in the [*16]  original Complaint, entitled 
conspiracy, must also fall. See e.g., Mable Cleary Trust v 
Edward-Marlah Muzyl Trust, 262 Mich App 485, 507 (2004).

B

Amended Complaint

Count II in the "Amended" Complaint adds the term "Fraud" 
to its label. First Amended Complaint ("COUNT II - FRAUD 
AND CONSPIRACY"). Although the Amended Complaint 
was filed after the filing of the instant Motion, this is the only 
Count which contains new or additional allegations, either in 
the form of cursory tags to pre-existing paragraphs (see and 
compare Paragraphs 51 and 53) or new paragraphs (i.e., 
paragraphs 54-58 in the "Amended" Complaint are new).6

1

Under MCR 2.112(B), claims of fraud must be pled with 
specificity. MCR 2.112(B). Further, courts are required to 
look beyond the captions and titles chosen by a plaintiff to see 
exactly what a party's complaint is before deciding what 
theory is actually pled and which applicable limitations period 
controls. Stringer v Board of Trustees, 62 Mich App 696, 699 
(1975); Simmons v Apex Drug Stores, Inc, 201 Mich App 250, 
253 (1993); Wilkerson v Carlo, 101 Mich App 629, 631-632 
(1980).

To prove fraud, a plaintiff must show that (1) the defendant 
made a material representation; (2) the representation was 
false; (3) when the defendant made the representation, the 

6 For ease, the First Amended Complaint will be referenced as 
"Amended Complaint" Count I in the Amended Complaint remains 
solely a breach of fiduciary duty claim. The allegations remain 
unchanged.

defendant knew it was false, or made it recklessly, without 
knowledge of its truth as a positive assertion; (4) the 
defendant made the representation with the intention that the 
plaintiff [*17]  would act on it; (5) the plaintiff acted in 
reasonable reliance upon it; and (6) the plaintiff suffered 
damage. M & D, Inc v WB McConkey, 231 Mich App 22, 27 
(1998); Novak v Nationwide Mut Ins Co, 235 Mich App 675, 
690-691 (1991) (holding that fraud must be reasonable).

In the instant case, the Plaintiffs assert that their Amended 
Complaint alleges "silent fraud." The elements of "silent 
fraud" or fraud by nondisclosure are identical to that of 
common law fraud except that the misrepresentation 
supporting the fraud claim (the first factor) is based on the 
suppression of a material fact within the defendant's 
knowledge, which the defendant is duty-bound to disclose. M 
& D, Inc v WB McConkey, 231 Mich App 22, 28-29 (1998). In 
other words, "Michigan courts have recognized that silence 
cannot constitute actionable fraud unless it occurred under 
circumstances where there was a legal duty to disclose it." M 
& D, Inc supra at 29 (citations omitted [emphasis in 
original]). As the Court observed in M & D, Inc:

[T]he touchstone of liability for misdirection or "silent 
fraud" is that some form of representation has been made 
and that it was proved to be false. In other words, we 
believe that, at least as applied to fraud cases, there is no 
general inchoate duty to disclose all hidden defects.

In Wolfe v A E Kursterer & Co, 269 Mich 424 (1934), 
the Supreme Court explained the distinction between 
nondisclosure [*18]  generally and nondisclosure that is 
equivalent to an affirmative fraudulent 
misrepresentation:

"In an action for deceit, it is true that silence as to a 
material fact is not necessarily, as a matter of law, 
equivalent to a false representation. But mere 
silence is quite different from concealment . . . a 
suppression of the truth may amount to a suggestion 
of falsehood; and if, with intent to deceive, either 
party to a contract of sale conceals or suppresses a 
material fact, which he is in good faith bound to 
disclose, this is evidence of and equivalent to a false 
representation, because the concealment or 
suppression is in effect a representation that what is 
disclosed is the whole truth. The gist of the action is 
fraudulently producing a false impression upon the 
mind of the other party."

Our review of Michigan Supreme Court precedent 
regarding the issue reveals that, in every case, the fraud 
by nondisclosure was based upon statements by the 
vendor that were made in response to a specific inquiry 
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by the purchaser, which statement were in some way 
incomplete or misleading.

* * *

Thus, Supreme Court precedent clearly indicates that, in 
order to prove a claim of silent fraud, a plaintiff [*19]  
must show that some type of representation that was 
false or misleading was made and that there was a legal 
or equitable duty of disclosure.

* * *

. . . We emphasize that there must be some type of 
misrepresentation, whether by words or action, in order 
to establish a claim of silent fraud. [M & D, Inc, supra at 
29, 30-31, 36 (emphasis in original).]

2

In the instant case, and as previously noted and conceded by 
the Plaintiffs, the Plaintiff Partnership did not exist at the time 
of the alleged wrongdoing. As such, the Plaintiff Partnership 
has failed to reasonably infer any legal or equitable duty owed 
to it by the Defendants. Additionally, by its very non-
existence during the relevant time period, the Plaintiff 
Partnership cannot assert any actionable misrepresentation by 
the Defendants' actions which can establish a claim of silent 
fraud. Id. See also authorities cited in Section IV, supra 
(finding that the Plaintiff Partnership lacks standing). In fact, 
no version of the Complaint - original or amended - alleges 
the element of reasonable reliance by the Plaintiff Partnership. 
As such, no silent fraud claim has been stated against this 
particular Plaintiff.

3

Even if the amended pleadings [*20]  do sufficiently plead a 
silent fraud claim by some or all of the individual Plaintiffs or 
the Plaintiff Partnership, the claim is fatally defective. The 
purported silent fraud or misrepresentation (element one) is 
the failure to disclose to the Plaintiffs the subordination 
agreement and self interest of Chase. (Amended Complaint at 
¶¶ 50-56.) The purported reasonable reliance is that the 
Plaintiffs, "except Plaintiff Eric Sahlin . . . agreed to and 
consented to the Trust being dissolved and executed releases" 
and that "[h]ad the Individual Plaintiffs been aware of the 
actions of [Chase] including the execution of the 
subordination and the payment by SII to [Chase] the Plaintiffs 

would not have executed the dissolution of the Trust or the 
release of the Trustees." (Id. at ¶ 57-58.) However, as even the 
individual Plaintiffs concede, they were aware of the 
subordination "at the turn of 2001" (Response at 4 and related 
Exhibits) - i.e., 7 months prior to their agreement to dissolve 
the Trust or execute releases. Webb v First of Michigan Corp, 
195 Mich App 470, 475 (1992) (there can be no reliance 
where the plaintiff has the means to discover the truthfulness 
of the representation).

Furthermore, each of the individual Plaintiffs (including 
Eric [*21]  Sahlin and Sahlin's counsel) as well as the Plaintiff 
Partnership signed the Settlement Agreement. (Chase Ex D.) 
Counsel for all individual Plaintiffs (including Sahlin) also 
Stipulated to entry of two Orders: (1) the Order Approving 
Settlement Agreement under MCL 700.7207, Termmating 
Trust and Discharging Trustees (Stipulated Order Approving 
Settlement Agreement") (Chase Ex F); and (2) the Order 
Dismissing with Prejudice all Objections and Claims for 
Surcharge against the Co-Fiduciaries and All Claims By or 
Among Beneficiaries ("Stipulated Order Dismissing All 
Claims By or Among Beneficiaries") (Chase Ex G).

As noted supra, the Settlement Agreement specifically 
expresses a desire to settle all present and future disputes 
concerning the Trust which were or could have been raised 
and contains express agreements by each of the individual 
Plaintiffs to deliver fully executed releases in the form 
attached to the Settlement Agreement. (Chase Ex D, Recital 
17 and Agreement 2[c].) The Settlement Agreement also 
contains a merger clause. (Id. at 9.) The Stipulated Order 
Approving Settlement Agreement not only finds that the 
Settlement Agreement was in the best interest of all interested 
parties but also [*22]  approved the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement, terminated the Trust, and specifically orders " 
[a]ll parties to the Settlement Agreement to take all actions 
and to deliver all documents as required by the Settlement 
Agreement." (Chase Exs F-G [emphasis supplied].) This 
directive therefore included the signing and delivery of the 
Releases which, inter alia, discharge Chase and Bodman 
"from every kind or nature, known or unknown, accrued or 
unaccrued. ... including but not limited to any claims... 
objections . . . which were asserted or could have been 
asserted in the Trust or Estate proceedings, and including any 
claims or demands which could be asserted by or in the name 
of Sahlin International, Inc." by the Beneficiaries (individual 
Plaintiffs) and their "heirs, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns." Chase Ex E, ¶ 2. Additionally, the 
Stipulated Order Dismissing All Claims By or Among 
Beneficiaries Stipulated clearly and unambiguously 
"dismissed with prejudice "any and all actions, suits, claims, 
challenges, petitions, objections defenses, or other 
proceedings of any nature filed by or on behalf of any [of the 
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individual Plaintiffs] with respect to or against...(2) 
[Chase]...(individually [*23]  or in any capacity including as 
Co-Personal Representative of the Estate...or as Co-Successor 
Trustee of the [Trust]);. ...(4) any law firms which provided 
services to or on behalf of [Chase] or Stephen I. Greenhalgh 
in connection with the Estate or Trust. . . (including Bodman, 
Longley & Dahling LLLP ...)." (Chase Ex G [emphasis 
supplied].)

In short, the clear and unambiguous provisions in the 
Settlement Agreement and each Stipulated Order dispel the 
notion that reliance was reasonable. For example, by 
promising in the Settlement Agreement to discharge all 
"future" claims that "could have been raised" and to execute a 
Release in the form attached to the Settlement Agreement, 
and by specifically stipulating to Orders directing each of 
them to deliver all documents required by the Settlement 
Agreement including the attached Releases discharging Chase 
and Bodman from all known and unknown claims against 
them relating to the Trust, none of the Plaintiffs, including 
Eric Sahlin (and the Plaintiff Partnership assuming its 
signature is binding on it), can credibly argue that they agreed 
to release future or unknown claims only because they did not 
know that they had any future or unknown [*24]  claims. See 
UAW GM v KSL Rec Corp, 228 Mich App 486, 501-502 
(1998) (reliance on representations that are contrary to a 
written settlement agreement are unreasonable).7

There is no dispute that the Plaintiffs had previously accused 
Chase and Bodman of fraud and misrepresentation and had 
instituted litigation against them on that basis long before 
signing the Settlement Agreement and/or Stipulated Orders. 
(Chase Ex D at ¶¶ 7-8.) This adversarial posture also makes 
any alleged reliance by the Plaintiffs on conduct by the 
Defendants unreasonable - at the time the Plaintiffs executed 
the Settlement Agreement (and stipulated to the Order 
Approving Settlement Agreement et al.), the Defendants were 
adverse parties; the Plaintiffs were represented by their own 
counsel; the Plaintiffs had pursued multiple claims against 
Chase and Bodman (Chase Ex B); and the Plaintiffs already 
knew or should have known of a "possible cause of action" 
predicated upon the subordination of the Trust's security in 

7 Because Erie Sahlin executed the Settlement Agreement and 
stipulated (through counsel) to the Order directing him to deliver 
documents contemplated by the Settlement Agreement, it does not 
matter that Eric Sahlin never executed a separate release. 
Furthermore, the Amended Complaint is silent on any allegation of 
reasonable reliance by Eric Sahlin and, therefore, the pleading fails 
to state a claim of fraud by this Plaintiff for this reason alone. For 
identical reasons, and as noted supra, the Partnership Plaintiff has 
failed to state a claim of fraud because no version of the Complaint 
alleges the element of reasonable reliance by it.

SII (Discussion supra and Plaintiffs' Exs K-L). These 
circumstances dispel any notion that reliance was reasonable. 
See DeLorean v Corl Gully, 118 BR 932, 943 (1990) (reliance 
on the representation of a party or its counsel that is adverse 
to one in litigation is unreasonable); Webb, supra (there can 
be no reliance [*25]  where the plaintiff has the means to 
discover the truthfulness of the representation).

The Plaintiffs' self dealing allegations do not salvage their 
claim. The claim is predicated on the fact that Chase (then 
Bank One) acted as both lender and co-Trustee. However, 
nowhere do the Plaintiffs cite authority or present any 
evidence to substantiate their position that such conduct 
constitutes actionable self dealing in violation of a fiduciary 
duty. A statement of position without supporting citation is 
insufficient to bring an issue before this Court. See, e.g., 
Mitcham v City of Detroit, 355 Mich 182, 203 (1953) ("It is 
not enough . . . to simply announce a position or assert an 
error and then leave it up to this Court to discover and 
rationalize the basis for his claims, or unravel and rationalize 
the basis for his arguments, and then search for authority 
either to sustain or reject his position"); Wilson v Taylor, 457 
Mich 232, 243 (1998) ("A mere statement without authority is 
insufficient to bring an issue before this Court"); Houghton v 
Keller, 256 Mich App 336, 339-340 (2003) ("[A party] may 
not merely announce his position and leave it to this Court to 
discover and rationalize the basis for his claims . . . nor may 
he give issues cursory treatment with little or no citation of 
supporting authority"); People v Jones (On Rehearing), 201 
Mich App 449, 456-457 (1993) (failure to provide [*26]  
cogent argument or supporting authority constitutes 
abandonment of the issue on appeal); Settles v Detroit City 
Clerk, 169 Mich App 797, 807 (1988) ("A statement of 
position without supporting citation is insufficient to bring an 
issue before this Court").

In fact, the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished but 
persuasive opinion, has ruled that loans by a trustee/bank to a 
trust are not prohibited under the Probate Code. In re John F. 
Ervin Testamentary Trust, unpublished per curiam opinion of 
the Court of Appeals, decided 2/24/05 (Docket Nos. 249974, 
253745 and 253824) (Chase Reply, Ex L). Therefore, a 
trustee/bank who makes a loan to the trust or an asset of the 
trust is entitled to repayment without violating its fiduciary 
duty as trustee against self dealing.

In any event, the parties were adverse and represented by 
separate counsel at the time the Settlement Agreement and 
Stipulated Order were negotiated. The Plaintiffs had already 
accused the Defendants of breaches of fiduciary obligations 
and misrepresentations, yet promised and agreed to discharge 
those claims as well as "all" other "future" claim "which could 
have been raised" whether "known or unknown" relating to 
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the Trust. Settlement Agreement, Recital 17 & Agreement 2c; 
Releases. [*27]  Under these circumstances, reliance cannot 
be reasonable in terms of arguing that the Settlement 
Agreement was induced by (silent) fraud. UAW-GM, supra; 
DeLorean, supra.

VI

The Settlement Agreement & Releases Bar the Plaintiffs' 
Action

The Plaintiffs' claims also are barred by the Settlement 
Agreement and/or Releases. Michigan jurisprudence is well 
settled that, while a settlement agreement or release may be 
challenged on the ground that it was procured by fraud, the 
challenging parties must first or simultaneously with the filing 
of suit tender back the consideration received in exchange for 
the agreement or release. Stefanac v Cranbrook Ed 
Community (After Remand), 435 Mich 155, 176 (1990); 
Collucci v Eklund, 240 Mich App 654, 659 (2000). In fact, a 
plaintiff must tender before he may even attempt to repudiate 
the agreement or release. Stefanac, supra at 165. A plaintiff is 
only excused from this "tender back" requirement only if the 
defendant waives the duty or the plaintiff demonstrates fraud 
in the execution. Id. at 165; Collucci, supra at 659, citing 
Stefanac.

In the instant case, the Plaintiffs do not claim that the 
Defendants waived the Plaintiffs' tender back duty. Nor have 
the Plaintiffs adduced facts to establish fraud in the execution 
(the evidence before the Court negates the element of 
reasonable reliance). See Discussion supra. Accordingly, the 
Plaintiffs are not excused [*28]  from application of the tender 
back rule. Id.; Collucci, supra at 659.

The Plaintiffs' additional arguments against application of the 
tender back rule are meritless. As made clear in Collucci, so 
long as consideration was received it must be tendered back, 
regardless of who paid or provided it to the plaintiff. Collucci, 
supra at 658, 659. See also Stefanac, supra at 177 ("the 
plaintiff must tender back the recited consideration"). 
Accordingly, the fact that Chase and Bodman did not own the 
assets that were paid to the Plaintiffs is of no consequential 
moment. Id. The individual Plaintiffs also cite no authority for 
the proposition that because the consideration received was 
paid to the Plaintiff Partnership and not them individually, 
they owe no obligation to return it. Thus, the argument is 
deemed abandoned. See, e.g., Mitcham, supra at 203; Wilson, 
supra at 243; Houghton, supra at 339-340; Jones, supra at 
456-457; Settles, supra at 807. The Court also notes that the 

individual Plaintiffs directed that the consideration be paid to 
the Partnership, a party they selected and controlled/control. 
(Chase Ex A, Certificate of Limited Partnership.)

Thus, because the Plaintiffs are not excused from the tender 
back rule and failed to tender back the consideration received 
for the execution of the Settlement Agreement and/or 
Releases before, or simultaneously with, the [*29]  filing of 
their Complaint(s), the Settlement Agreement and/ or 
Releases effectively bar their claims.8

VII

Res Judicata

Res judicata bars a second, subsequent action when (1) the 
prior action was decided on the merits, (2) the decree in the 
prior action was a final decision, (3) both actions involve the 
same parties or their privies, and (4) the matter in the second 
case was or could have been resolved in the first. Sewell v 
Clean Cut Mgt, Inc, 463 Mich 569, 575 (2001); Baraga 
County v State Tax Comm'n, 466 Mich 264, 269 (2002). As 
even the Plaintiffs concede, Michigan jurisprudence takes "a 
broad approach to the doctrine of res judicata, holding that it 
bars not only claims already litigated, but also every claim 
arising from the same transaction that the parties, exercising 
reasonable diligence, could have raised but did not." 
Response at 16-17, citing Dart v Dart, 460 Mich 573, 586 
(1999).

Despite their acknowledgement of the foregoing principles, 
the Plaintiffs claim that res judicata does not apply because 
their cause of action has not actually been litigated. (Response 
at 17.) However, this assertion is specious in light of the 
foregoing authorities. See, e.g., Dart, supra. Further, for the 
reasons discussed supra, had the individual Plaintiffs 
exercised reasonable diligence they could have raised their 
instant (viable) claims but did not. [*30]  The Plaintiff 
Partnership did not exist and, therefore, has no viable claim. 
In any event, because the Plaintiff Partnership is controlled by 
the individual Plaintiffs, the knowledge they possessed must 
be imputed to the partnership. The Plaintiff Partnership also 
signed the Settlement Agreement and received settlement 
funds - thus the partnership is bound by settlement agreement.

8 The Settlement Agreement and Releases specifically state that the 
Agreement is binding upon all "heirs, personal representatives, 
successors in interest and assigns." (Settlement Agreement, ¶ 7 
following the "NOW THEREFORE" language; Release at ¶ 2.)
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VII

Indemnification

Pursuant to Agreement No. 3 in the Settlement Agreement, 
the Plaintiffs expressly agreed to indemnify Chase and 
Greenhalgh, as well as their "agents" and "attorneys," from all 
damage or expense, including attorney fees, incurred "as a 
result of any action, proceeding, claim or demand (i) arising 
out of or in any manner related to . . . the Trust. . .; or (ii) by 
reason of any action or proceeding brought to set aside or 
invalidate this Agreement for any reason whatsoever."

Although the Defendants argue that the indemnity agreement 
prohibits the instant cause of action, it actually only requires 
the Plaintiffs to pay for the Defendants' damages, expenses, 
and costs incurred in defending the action. Moreover, this 
obligation was not ripe until the issuance of this Opinion and 
Order, the Defendants [*31]  have not filed a counterclaim 
asking for such indemnification, the Defendants have not 
submitted a bill of costs, and the Defendants cite no law 
requiring this Court to order such indemnification under these 
circumstances. Furthermore, unlike sanctions awarded by a 
court pursuant to Rules of Court or statute, the 
indemnification agreement is grounded in a contractual 
obligation and separate cause of action appears in order. Thus, 
this issue is not properly before the Court.

VII

Defendant's Motion to Strike First Amended Complaint

In light of the foregoing, the Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint 
which was improperly filed without leave should be stricken 
because it was filed without leave and is futile. Accordingly, 
the Defendants' Motion to Strike should be granted.

The Court also incorporates the additional arguments and 
authorities cited in the Defendants' brief supporting their 
Motion to Strike as a further basis for striking the pleading to 
the extent they are not inconsistent with this Opinion.

ORDER

Based on the foregoing Opinion, the Court:

1. GRANTS the Defendants' Motions for Summary 

Disposition pursuant to MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (10) (but 
does not rule on the issue of indemnification as it is not 
properly [*32]  before the Court - such claim is 
preserved without prejudice).
2. GRANTS the Defendants' Motion to Strike the 
Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.

THIS ORDER RESOLVES THE LAST PENDING CLAIM 
AND CLOSES THE CASE.

/s/ Michael Warren

HON. MICHAEL WARREN

CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

End of Document
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ORDER

On September 17, 2018, the Court directed Plaintiff Ricardo 
Rosselini to respond and show cause why this case should not 
be dismissed without prejudice for lack of subject matter 
jurisdiction. (Doc. 27). The Court observed that two other 
judges of the Middle District of Florida had dismissed all of 
their nearly identical cases involving alleged fraud perpetrated 
by Bank of America in facilitating illegal and fraudulent 
property foreclosures for lack of subject matter jurisdiction 
under the Rooker-Feldman1 doctrine.2 Having now carefully 

1 The doctrine evolved from the two United States Supreme Court 
cases from which its name is derived, Rooker v. Fidelity Trust Co., 
263 U.S. 413, 44 S.Ct. 149, 68 L.Ed. 362 (1923) and D.C. Court of 
Appeals v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 462, 103 S.Ct. 1303, 75 L.Ed.2d 206 
(1983).

2 Gonzalez v. Bank of America, N.A., 5:17-cv-00519-SDM-PRL 
(Doc. 44) Salazar v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02535-SDM-
AEP (Doc. 50); Diaz v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02537-
SDM-MAP (Doc. 51) Rostgaard v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-
02538-SDM-CPT (Doc. 57); Gonzalez v. Bank of America, N.A., 
8:17-cv-2546-RAL-CPT (Doc. 32);Colon v. Bank of America, N.A., 
8:17-cv-2548-RALAAS (Doc. 30) Mosquea v. Bank of America, 
N.A., 8:17-cv-02551-SDM-TGW (Doc. 46); Peralta v. Bank of 
America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2580-SDM-MAP (Doc. 56); Gonzalez v. 
Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2581-RAL-AAS; (Doc. 29); 
Restrepo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2582-RAL-CPT (Doc. 
30); Rodriguez v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02583-SDM-TGW 
(Doc. 51); Santos v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2588-SDM-
MAP (Doc. 47); Acosta v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2592-
SDM-AAS (Doc. 55); Blanco v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-
02593-SDM-JSS (Doc. 48); Cedeno v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-
cv-2594-RAL-AAS (Doc. 33); Penaranda v. Bank of America, N.A., 
8:17-cv-2599-RAL-SPF (Doc. 31); Garcia v. Bank of America, N.A., 
8:17-cv-02602-SDM-AAS (Doc. 46); Zalazar v. Bank of America, 
N.A., 8:17-cv-02603-SDM-CPT (Doc. 48); Perez v. Bank of 
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reviewed Plaintiff's Response to the Court's Order to Show 
Cause (Doc. 28), as well as the allegations of the amended 
complaint and the entire case file, the Court finds that this 
action is also due to be dismissed without [*2]  prejudice for 
lack of subject matter jurisdiction.3

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 27, 2017, Plaintiff Ricardo Rosselini and 117 other 
plaintiffs sued Bank of America in the Middle District in a 
single action, Case No. 8:17-cv-1534-RAL-TBM. The 292-
page complaint in that action alleged fraud and the violation 
of Florida's Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act. Bank 
of America moved to dismiss the action, arguing misjoinder 
of the plaintiffs' [*3]  claims, failure to plead fraud with 
particularity, failure to state a claim, expiration of the four-
year limitation, and the absence of a private right to sue a 
bank for violating the requirements of the Home Affordable 
Modification Program ("HAMP").

The presiding judge, however, observed that the complaint 
did not allege each plaintiff's citizenship or the amount in 
controversy between each plaintiff and Bank of America and, 
consequently, it failed to invoke diversity jurisdiction. 
Therefore, the judge, sua sponte, ordered plaintiffs to amend 
the complaint to cure the pleading deficiencies. The plaintiffs 
then filed a 403-page amended complaint. Bank of America 
moved to dismiss the amended complaint, repeating the 
arguments from its earlier motion. The presiding judge then 
found misjoinder, severed the plaintiffs' claims, and ordered 
the plaintiffs to sue separately.

Then, between October 30, 2017, and November 3, 2017, 
more than 100 plaintiffs sued Bank of America in the Middle 
District in 80 actions and alleged fraud under Florida common 

America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02623-SDM-JSS (Doc. 50); Espinel v. Bank 
of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-02628-SDM-JSS (Doc. 44); Ocampo v. 
Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2631-SDM-JSS (Doc. 42); 
Carmenates v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2635-SDM-JSS (Doc. 
50); Clavelo v. Bank of America, N.A., 8:17-cv-2644-RAL-TGW 
(Doc. 29).

3 Defendant Bank of America's pending motion to dismiss does not 
raise the issue of subject matter jurisdiction (see Doc. 21); however, 
the Court may raise the question of subject matter jurisdiction at any 
point during the proceedings sua sponte. Ellenburg v. Spartan 
Motors Chassis, Inc., 519 F.3d 192, 197 (11th Cir. 2008). Further, 
"[w]here dismissal can be based on lack of subject matter 
jurisdiction and failure to state a claim, the court should dismiss on 
only the jurisdictional grounds. This dismissal is without prejudice." 
See Boda v. United States, 698 F. 2d 1174, 1177 n.4 (11th Cir. 
1983); accord Dimaio v. Democratic Nat'l Comm., 520 F. 3d 1299, 
1303 (11th Cir. 2008) (citing and quoting Boda).

law. The nearly identical actions were distributed among eight 
district judges in the Middle District. The instant case is one 
of those actions

DISCUSSION [*4] 

Under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine, federal courts, other 
than the Supreme Court, do not have jurisdiction to review 
final state court decisions. See Target Media Partners v. 
Specialty Mktg. Corp., 881 F.3d 1279, 1285-86 (11th Cir. 
2018) (explaining the Rooker-Feldman doctrine and 
recognizing its limited scope "to bar only those claims 
asserted by the parties who have lost in state court and then 
ask the district court, ultimately, to review and reject a state 
court's judgments."). If a claim is one "inextricably 
intertwined" with a state court judgment and would 
"effectively nullify the state court judgment," then the 
Rooker-Feldman doctrine bars the claim if there was 
reasonable opportunity to raise the particular claim in the state 
court proceeding. Id.

Plaintiff's Response to this Court's Order to Show Cause 
argues, in sum, that the Rooker-Feldman doctrine does not 
apply in this instance because his fraud claim amounts not to 
an indirect attack on the foreclosure judgment, but rather, a 
claim that Bank of America's fraudulent actions resulted in a 
wrongful denial of a HAMP modification. This is the same 
argument that was thoroughly considered, and then rejected, 
by the other two judges of the Middle District in the 23 
above-listed cases.

Plaintiff alleges that Bank of [*5]  America tricked him into 
defaulting on the loan, instructed him to make "trial 
payments" to Bank of America which it never refunded, 
induced him to incur unnecessary costs for sending multiple 
applications for loan modification under the HAMP and 
related financial documents to Bank of America, damaged his 
credit, and caused the loss of his home and equity in the 
home. The issues of the fraud in this case could have been 
raised in the state court foreclosure before final judgment was 
entered. It would not change the result that Plaintiff alleges he 
did not know or could not have reasonably discovered the 
facts he now knows until he retained his attorney in this case. 
The fraud alleged here is inextricably intertwined with the 
state foreclosure judgment. Therefore, for the reasons set 
forth, and the authority cited, by these other judges, this Court 
finds that Plaintiff's fraud claim is barred under the Rooker-
Feldman doctrine.4

4 See, e.g., Ocampo v. Bank of Am., N.A., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
137052, 2018 WL 3862560 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 14, 2018) (citing 
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ACCORDINGLY, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:

This action is DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE. The 
Clerk is directed to terminate any pending motions and close 
the case.

DONE AND ORDERED at Tampa, Florida, this 4th day of 
October, 2018.

/s/ Susan C. Bucklew

 [*6] SUSAN C. BUCKLEW

United States District Judge

End of Document

Figueroa v. Merscorp, Inc., 766 F.Supp.2d 1305 (S.D. Fla. 2011), 
aff'd, 477 F. App'x 558 (11th Cir. 2012) (unpublished) and Nivia v. 
Nation Star Mortg., LLC, 620 F. App'x 822 (11th Cir. 2015) 
(unpublished)); Carmenates v. Bank of Am., N.A., 2018 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 123094, 2018 WL 3548727 (M.D. Fla. July 24, 2018) (same). 
The Court notes that Plaintiff's primary counsel in those cases is the 
same as Plaintiff's primary counsel in the instant case. The Court 
further notes that counsel did not appeal the dispositive orders in 
those cases and that the time for appealing has now expired. Because 
those cases were dismissed for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction 
without the Court giving some clear signal that it intended the 
actions to continue, the orders ended the district court actions, and 
were, thus, final and appealable within 30 days after entry. Attias v. 
Carefirst, Inc., 865 F.3d 620, 625 (11th Cir. 2017).



























UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 
 
FRANKLIN TORRES and LUISA 
TORRES, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. Case No: 8:17-cv-2633-T-36CPT 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 
 
 Defendant. 
___________________________________/ 

O R DE R 

This cause comes before the Court upon the parties’ responses to the Court’s inquiry as to 

subject matter jurisdiction.  Docs. 38-42.  After a review of its jurisdiction, the Court sua sponte 

directed Plaintiffs to show cause why this case should not be dismissed pursuant to the Rooker-

Feldman doctrine for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and permitted Defendant the opportunity 

to reply.  Docs. 38, 41.  The Court, having considered the matter and being fully advised in the 

premises, will dismiss this case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.   

I. BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs are the borrowers on a mortgage loan that was foreclosed in state court after they 

defaulted by failing to make payments on the loan.  Doc. 23 ¶¶ 37, 42, 54.  Plaintiffs allege that 

they first began experiencing financial hardship and contacted Defendant, Bank of America, which 

was the servicer of the loan, in 2010 to request a modification under the Home Affordable 

Modification Program (“HAMP”).  Id. ¶¶ 39-40.  They submitted a HAMP application in 2010.  

Id. ¶ 43.  On July 7, 2010, Bank of America incorrectly advised them that they should refrain from 

making their regular mortgage payments because default was required for HAMP eligibility.  Id. 

¶ 40.  However, a person could be eligible for HAMP if default was reasonably foreseeable and 
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Plaintiffs allege that Bank of America intentionally provided false information to set Plaintiffs up 

for foreclosure.  Id. ¶¶ 40-41.  Plaintiffs relied on Bank of America’s representation and stopped 

making their regular mortgage payments.  Id. ¶ 42.   

Bank of America later advised Plaintiffs on October 20, 2010 that they were approved for 

a HAMP modification and they should make temporary trial payments.  Id. ¶ 50.  Plaintiffs, 

however, had not been approved and Bank of America did not apply the trial payments to 

Plaintiffs’ mortgage, but kept the funds in an unapplied account while deciding on Plaintiffs’ 

HAMP application.  Id. ¶¶ 50-52.   

On December 3, 2013, Plaintiffs’ mortgage was foreclosed and a judgment was entered 

against them in state court.  Id. ¶ 54.  Plaintiffs filed this action on November 3, 2017, alleging a 

single count for common law fraud against Bank of America in connection with its representations 

to them during the HAMP application process.  Id. ¶¶ 76-92. 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

Under the Rooker-Feldman doctrine, federal courts do not have jurisdiction to “exercise 

appellate authority ‘to reverse or modify’ a state court judgment,” meaning that “state-court losers 

complaining of injuries caused by state-court judgments rendered before the district court 

proceedings commenced” may not obtain rejection of the state-court judgment through review by 

the district court.  Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284-85 (2005) 

(citing Rooker v. Fidelity Tr. Co., 263 U.S. 413, 416 (1923); D.C. Ct. App. v. Feldman, 460 U.S. 

462 (1983)).  The Rooker-Feldman doctrine applies where a claim is “inextricably intertwined” 

with a state court judgment such that a decision by the district court would “effectively nullify the 

state court judgment,” or the claim could “succeed[] only to the extent that the state court wrongly 

decided the issues.”  Target Media Partners v. Specialty Mktg. Corp., 881 F.3d 1279, 1286 (11th 
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Cir. 2018) (citation omitted).  In determining whether the Rooker-Feldman doctrine applies, courts 

look to “the federal claim’s relationship to the issues involved in the state court proceeding, instead 

of . . . the type of relief sought by the plaintiff.”  Velardo v. Fremont Inv. & Loan, 298 F. App’x 

890, 892 (11th Cir. 2008).  “The doctrine is rooted in an understanding that Congress has given 

only the United States Supreme Court the ability to hear an appeal from a state court decision,” 

whereas district courts “have been given original, not appellate, jurisdiction.”  Id. at 1284 (citing 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1257(a), 1331, 1332).   

III. DISCUSSION 

 The case at hand is one of several filed in the United States District Court for the Middle 

District of Florida against Bank of America that involves the same alleged fraud.  Several of these 

cases have been dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on the Rooker-Feldman 

doctrine because the plaintiffs’ cases in federal court were inextricably intertwined with a state 

court foreclosure action.  Machado v. Bank of Am., No. 8:17-cv-2531-T-33AAS, 2018 WL 

5024177 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 17, 2018); Ocampo v. Bank of Am., No. 8:17-cv-2631-T-23JSS, 2018 

WL 3862560 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 14, 2018); Colon v. Bank of Am., No. 8:17-cv-2548-T-26AAS (Sept. 

13, 2018), ECF No. 30.   

In a recent case, like the one at hand, the plaintiff filed a complaint in this Court alleging 

one count of common law fraud against Bank of America based on allegations that it schemed to, 

and did, make misrepresentations concerning the HAMP program to send the plaintiff into default 

and obtain a foreclosure judgment.  Machado, 2018 WL 5024177, at *4.  The complaint alleged 

that the plaintiffs lost their home and the equity in their home after the state court foreclosure 

judgment was entered, and these losses were the alleged damages in the federal action.  Id.  

However, “[b]ecause the state court found that the foreclosure leading to the loss of Plaintiffs’ 
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home was proper,” this Court reasoned that “granting damages for the loss of Plaintiffs’ home 

suggests entry of the foreclosure judgment was wrongful.”  Id.  Thus, the Court found that the 

federal action was an attempt to impugn the validity of the foreclosure judgment and dismissed 

the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction based on the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.  Id. 

Likewise, in Varela-Pietri v. Bank of America, N.A., No. 8:17-cv-2534-T-23TGW, 2018 

WL 4208002, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 4, 2018), another fraud case against Bank of America alleging 

a scheme to obtain foreclosure through misrepresentations regarding the HAMP program, the 

Court noted that, the plaintiffs “complain[ed] exclusively about misrepresentation that preceded—

and ultimately caused—the foreclosure.”  As in Machado and the instant case, the plaintiffs alleged 

that the misrepresentations resulted in the loss of their home and the equity in their home, and that 

such loss was “occasioned by the state court action, which foreclosed [the plaintiffs’] right of 

redemption and resulted in a deficiency judgment . . . .”  Id.  Accordingly, the Court found that the 

federal action was an “unmistakable attempt to impugn the validity of the foreclosure judgment.”  

Id.   

Similar to those cases, Plaintiffs’ claim in this case is based on purported 

misrepresentations by Bank of America that led to default on their loan and entry of a state court 

foreclosure judgment against them.  Accordingly, the Court directed Plaintiffs to show cause why 

this case should not be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.  Doc. 38.  Plaintiffs argue 

that this case does not seek to undo the foreclosure judgment or render it void, but instead alleges 

that Bank of America’s fraudulent actions resulted in the wrongful denial of their HAMP 

application.  Doc. 39 at 3.   

Plaintiffs rely on Nivia v. Nation Star Mortgage, LLC, 620 F. App’x 822, 824 (11th Cir. 

2015), to argue that claims under HAMP are not barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.  Doc. 39 
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at 2.  In Nivia, the borrowers defaulted on their loan and a foreclosure judgment was entered by 

the state court.  620 F. App’x at 823.  Shortly before the sale of the property, the borrowers filed 

an action against the lenders arguing that the lenders should have granted a loan modification 

request made by the borrower after the state court entered the final judgment of foreclosure, and 

that the failure to do so violated the lenders’ duties under the Troubled Asset Relief Program 

(“TARP”) and HAMP.  Id.  The borrowers also alleged that the lenders violated the Florida 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”).  Id.  The lenders removed the action to 

federal court and moved to dismiss based on the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.  Id.   

The Eleventh Circuit held that the borrowers’ claims under TARP and HAMP were not 

barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine because the borrowers did not “seek to undo the effect of 

the foreclosure judgment” and did not “make arguments that would have undermined its validity.”  

Id.  In reaching this conclusion, the Eleventh Circuit explained that the borrowers sought damages 

that would not nullify the foreclosure judgment because the damages would not “challenge the 

transfer of the real property effectuated by the foreclosure.”  Id.  Additionally, the Court stated that 

“the success of putative claims under TARP or HAMP would not require a determination that the 

state court erroneously entered the foreclosure judgment.”  Id.  Notably, the borrowers alleged 

“that the lenders failed to respond adequately to their September 2012 request for a loan 

modification, which could not have been at issue in the foreclosure proceeding that concluded in 

December 2011.”  Id. at 825.  Additionally, the Court concluded that there was “no authority for 

the proposition that a lender’s failure to fulfill any duties under TARP or HAMP invalidates a 

foreclosure resulting from that failure as a matter of law.”  Id.  Accordingly, the Court held that 

“the putative claims under TARP and HAMP [were] not barred under the Rooker-Feldman 
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doctrine.”  Id.  Nonetheless, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed dismissal of these claims because no 

private right of action existed under TARP or HAMP.  Id. at 825. 

The Nivia Court reached a different conclusion under Rooker-Feldman with respect to the 

borrowers’ FDUTPA claim.  In that claim, the borrowers alleged that the lenders’ representations 

that modifications were generally available were deceptive because the lenders failed to help the 

borrowers modify their loan, which denied the borrowers the possibility to cure their default.  Id.  

The Eleventh Circuit read these allegations as extending to conduct before the foreclosure 

judgment was entered, so that the claim was essentially “an equitable defense to foreclosure that 

[the borrowers] failed to raise before the state court.”  Id.  Accordingly, success on the merits of 

the FDUTPA claim would require the federal court to determine that the state court judgment was 

wrongly entered and legally invalid and, therefore, no subject matter jurisdiction existed over the 

claim based on the Rooker-Feldman doctrine.  Id.   

The facts here are more comparable to the FDUTPA claim in Nivia than the TARP and 

HAMP claims.  Whereas the modification communications in Nivia occurred after the state court 

entered judgment, rendering it impossible for such communications to have been at issue in the 

foreclosure proceedings, the communications in this case occurred before the state court entered 

judgment.  As the Court in Nivia explained, where the allegations implicate pre-foreclosure actions 

that could constitute a defense in that action, the Rooker-Feldman doctrine applies and deprives 

the federal court of subject matter jurisdiction.      

Likewise, Ye Ho v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 738 F. App’x 525 (11th Cir. 2018), relied on 

by Bank of America, also indicates that dismissal based on Rooker-Feldman is appropriate in this 

case.  In Ye Ho, after a foreclosure case was filed in state court, the borrower received an 

unsolicited loan modification offer from the servicer of her loan.  Id. at 526.  “The offer required 
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her to continue residing in the home, make three trial payments, continue to make timely payments 

thereafter, and sign relevant final modification documents.”  Id.  The borrower made the payments 

and completed and returned the modification agreement.  Id.  The servicer never communicated 

its receipt of the modification documents to the borrower.  Id. at 527.  After the modification 

documents were completed by the borrower, the foreclosure action proceeded to a final judgment 

of foreclosure, and the property was sold at a foreclosure sale.  Id.  Subsequently, the borrower 

received a response from the servicer explaining that the loan modification agreement was rejected 

as incomplete because it was not signed by the borrower’s husband.  Id.  Throughout this process, 

the borrower sought relief from the foreclosure judgment and sale based on fraud.  Id.   

After the borrower’s state court actions were concluded, the borrower filed an action in 

federal court alleging numerous causes of actions, including wrongful foreclosure.  Id.  The 

wrongful foreclosure claim was based on arguments that the servicer lacked standing to enforce 

the mortgage and fraudulently secured the foreclosure.  Id.  The Eleventh Circuit held that this 

claim was barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine because the borrower raised the standing and 

fraud issues in the state court proceedings.  Id. at 531.  Thus, if the federal action was successful, 

it would “ ‘effectively nullify the state court judgment’ and necessarily hold ‘that the state court 

wrongly decided the issues.’ ”  Id. (quoting Casale v. Tillman, 558 F.3d 1258, 1260 (11th Cir. 

2009)).   

Here, Plaintiffs complain about pre-foreclosure conduct that relates to whether foreclosure 

was proper.  Indeed, Plaintiffs’ allegations tell the story of a scheme devised by Bank of America 

to allow it to foreclose and financially benefit in the process.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claim is 

inextricably intertwined with the foreclosure action and success by the Plaintiffs in this case would 
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necessitate a finding by this Court that the foreclosure judgment was not valid.  As a result, this 

Court is without subject matter jurisdiction. 

Accordingly, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: 

1. This action is DISMISSED without prejudice for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction. 

2. The Clerk is directed to terminate any pending motions and close this case. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on December 13, 2018. 

 

Copies to: 
Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Parties, if any 
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Opinion

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

In the midst of an unprecedented financial crisis, the U.S. 
government made nearly $700 billion in funds available to the 
country's largest financial institutions to stop the crisis from 
worsening. A key feature of the $700 billion bank bailout was 
the Home Affordable Modification Program, under which 
banks, including defendant Wells Fargo, received incentive 
payments from the government to provide mortgage loan 
modifications to homeowners, including plaintiff Lori Wigod.

At first, Wigod  [*2] received a four-month modification, but 
has now filed suit against Wells Fargo alleging that it denied 
her a permanent modification in violation of its contractual 
obligations. Wigod contends that she is also a victim of Wells 
Fargo's alleged misrepresentations, its "immoral, 
unscrupulous, unfair, and oppressive" business practices, and 
its failure to properly hire and supervise its employees. She 
seeks damages and an order from the court directing Wells 
Fargo to permanently modify her mortgage loan.

Before the court is Wells Fargo's motion to dismiss Wigod's 
complaint in its entirety. For the reasons given below, the 
motion to dismiss is granted.
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BACKGROUND

For purposes of the motion to dismiss, the court deems the 
following facts to be true, which are taken from Wigod's first 
amended complaint, or the various documents attached or 
referred to in the complaint and central to her claims. See 
Marshall-Mosby v. Corporate Receivables, Inc., 205 F.3d 
323, 326 (7th Cir. 2000).

In September 2007, Wigod obtained mortgage financing from 
Wells Fargo's predecessor in the amount of $728,500 for a 
condominium in Chicago. Wigod made payments as due for 
about the first two years of the mortgage. Although  [*3] she 
had not missed a payment, on April 3, 2009, Wigod reached 
out to Wells Fargo's loss mitigation department and made a 
written request for a loan modification under the Home 
Affordable Modification Program, or HAMP.

The HAMP program had been announced on February 18, 
2009, and was intended to stave off a tidal wave of 
foreclosures by restructuring or refinancing the mortgage 
loans of homeowners already in default, or who were in 
imminent risk of default, by reducing monthly payments to a 
sustainable level of not more than 31% of their gross monthly 
income. All servicers of loans owned, securitized, or 
guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac were required to 
participate in HAMP as to those loans. Participation by 
servicers was voluntary as to loans not owned, securitized, or 
guaranteed by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, such as Wigod's 
loan.

Wells Fargo's participation in the HAMP program was 
governed by the Servicer Participation Agreement that it 
entered into with the Federal National Mortgage Association, 
or Fannie Mae, in its role as a financial agent of the United 
States. Under the Servicer Participation Agreement, Wells 
Fargo was required to evaluate all mortgage loans that had 
been  [*4] delinquent for 60 days or more to determine 
whether they were eligible for modification under HAMP, 
and were also required to evaluate the mortgage loans of any 
of their borrowers who contacted them about a HAMP 
modification.

Under the terms of HAMP, a borrower is eligible for 
modification only if: (1) the mortgage involves the borrower's 
primary residence, (2) the amount owed does not exceed 
$729,750, (3) the borrower has a financial hardship, (4) the 
mortgage was originated before 2009, and (5) the monthly 
mortgage payments exceed 31% of the borrower's monthly 
income. See Supplemental Directive 09-01 1 (attached as 

1 Wigod refers to Supplemental Directive 09-01 in her brief in 

Exhibit A to the Declaration of Steven Lezell) at 2-3. In 
addition, servicers are required to perform various evaluations 
of borrowers in order to determine whether the borrower is 
eligible for a permanent modification. Among the tests 
servicers perform is Net Present Value test, which evaluates a 
borrower's financial position to determine whether a 
modification would be profitable. Servicers also use a 
"waterfall" process to determine whether any combination of 
capitalizing unpaid interest and escrow fees, waiving late fees, 
reducing the interest rate to as low as 2%,  [*5] and/or 
extending the term of the loan would reduce the borrower's 
monthly payment to no more than 31% of her monthly 
income. See Response [42-1] at 4 (citing various portions of 
Supplemental Directive 09-01).

A HAMP modification is carried out in two stages. First, an 
eligible borrower who has represented to her lender that she 
cannot afford the payments required  [*6] under her mortgage 
loan receives a Trial Period Plan, or TPP, from her lender. 
The TPP requires the borrower to make reduced monthly 
mortgage payments during the trial period (Wigod's trial 
period was 4 months), while the lender suspends any 
scheduled foreclosure sale. The borrower also agrees to 
document her inability to pay under the terms of the mortgage 
loan if she has not already done so, and to obtain credit 
counseling if required by the lender.

The second stage consists of the borrower and lender entering 
into a Modification Agreement, under which the terms of the 
original mortgage loan are permanently modified. However, 
no permanent modification will occur if the borrower fails to 
make a required payment during the trial period, or if the 
lender determines that the borrower's representations about 
her financial condition are no longer true.

The parties dispute whether HAMP requires a lender to 
permanently modify a mortgage if the borrower makes all 
required payments and their financial representations remain 
true. Wigod alleges that because she satisfied both of those 
conditions, Wells Fargo was required to permanently modify 
her loan, citing in support the following language  [*7] from 

opposition to the motion to dismiss, and provided a copy to the court. 
In her brief, she describes it as setting out Wells Fargo's obligations 
when evaluating borrowers for a HAMP modification, and states that 
it is referenced in the Servicer Participation Agreement Wells Fargo 
signed, which is attached to the first amended complaint. In addition, 
Supplemental Directive 09-01 is published by Fannie Mae and 
publicly available on its website at 
https://www.hmpadmin.com/portal/programs/docs/hamp_servicer/sd
090 .pdf. Because it is both a public document of which the court can 
take judicial notice and Wigod incorporated it by reference into the 
allegations of her complaint, the court is free to take into account the 
Supplemental Directive when deciding the motion to dismiss.

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7314, *2
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the Trial Period Plan:
If I am in compliance with this Loan Trial Period and my 
representations in Section 1 continue to be true in all 
material respects, then the Lender will provide me with a 
Loan Modification Agreement, as set forth in Section 3, 
that would amend and supplement (1) the Mortgage on 
the Property, and (2) the Note secured by the Mortgage.

TPP (Exhibit A to the First Amended Complaint [23-1]) at 1. 
But Wells Fargo contends that it was not required to 
permanently modify a mortgage loan if it determined during 
the trial period that the borrower did not meet the 
requirements under HAMP for a modification, citing in 
support the following language from the Trial Period Plan:

I understand that the Plan is not a modification of the 
Loan Documents and that the Loan Documents will not 
be modified unless and until (I) I meet all of the 
conditions required for modification, (ii) I receive a fully 
executed copy of a Modification Agreement, and (iii) the 
Modification Effective Date has passed. I further 
understand and agree that the Lender will not be 
obligated or bound to make any modification of the Loan 
Documents if I fail to meet any one of the requirements 
under this Plan.

Id.  [*8] ¶ 2(G).

After receiving Wigod's request for a loan modification under 
HAMP and financial disclosures she had also forwarded, 
Wells Fargo notified Wigod in mid-May 2009 that she 
qualified for a temporary loan modification. On May 28, 
2009, Wigod received a Trial Period Plan from Wells Fargo, 
which she signed and returned "along with any final 
documents Defendant deemed were necessary to determine 
her eligibility." Am. Compl. [23-1] ¶ 33.

Beginning in July 2009, Wigod made each of the payments 
required during the four-month period covered by the Trial 
Period Plan. Wigod alleges that she also fully complied with 
all of the other terms of the Trial Period Plan, "such as 
keeping her information accurate and submitting all necessary 
paperwork." However, in a letter dated November 13, 2009, 
Wells Fargo notified Wigod that she was not eligible for a 
permanent modification of her mortgage loan:

Unfortunately, after carefully reviewing the information 
you've provided, we are unable to adjust the terms of 
your mortgage. You have not been approved for a 
mortgage loan modification because we were unable to 
get you to a modified payment amount that you could 
afford per the investor guidelines on your 
 [*9] mortgage.

Letter of November 13, 2009 (attached as Exhibit C to the 
Amended Complaint [23-1]).

Although the four-month term of her Trial Period Plan ended 
in October 2009, Wigod has continued making mortgage 
payments in the reduced amount due under the Trial Period 
Plan rather than the full amount due under her original 
mortgage loan. She has also attempted to convince Wells 
Fargo that its calculations of her eligibility for a HAMP 
modification were flawed, but those attempts have been 
unsuccessful. In the meantime, Wells Fargo has sent Wigod 
monthly notices threatening to foreclose on her home if she 
does not pay the delinquency between her monthly payment 
amount due under her original home mortgage, and the 
reduced amount she has been paying since July 2009.

Wigod has now sued Wells Fargo based upon its decision not 
to permanently modify her mortgage loan. Specifically, she 
alleges claims of: (1) breach of the Trial Period Plan (Count 
I); (2) promissory estoppel, based upon promises Wells Fargo 
allegedly made in the Trial Period Plan (Count II); (3) breach 
of the Servicer Participation Agreement (Count III); (4) 
negligent hiring and supervision (Count IV); (5) fraudulent 
misrepresentation  [*10] or concealment (Count V); (6) 
negligent misrepresentation or concealment (Count VI); and 
(7) violation of Illinois' Consumer Fraud and Deceptive 
Business Practices Act (Count VII). Wigod also sues on 
behalf of a class of similarly situated homeowners across the 
country. Although Wigod alleges jurisdiction only under the 
Class Action Fairness Act, see 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), the 
court notes that she is a citizen of Illinois while Wells Fargo is 
chartered in South Dakotah and its principal place of business 
is in California. Because the court therefore has diversity 
jurisdiction over Wigod's claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a), it 
need not delve into the issue of whether it also has jurisdiction 
under § 1332(d)(2).

Wells Fargo has filed a motion to dismiss each of Wigod's 
claims. For the reasons stated, the motion to dismiss is 
granted.

ANALYSIS

I. Standard of Review

A complaint need only contain a "short and plain statement of 
the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). However, a complaint must contain 
"enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 
face" and also must state sufficient facts to raise a plaintiff's 
right to relief above  [*11] the speculative level. Bell Atlantic 
Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 547, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. 
Ed. 2d 929 (2007). In Iqbal, the Supreme Court stated that a 

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7314, *7
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claim has facial plausibility "when the plaintiff pleads factual 
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference 
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged." 
Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L. 
Ed. 2d 868 (2009).

The court is neither bound by the plaintiff's legal 
characterization of the facts, nor required to ignore facts set 
forth in the complaint that undermine the plaintiff's claims. 
Scott v. O'Grady, 975 F. 2d 366, 368 (7th Cir. 1992). 
However, "in examining the facts and matching them up with 
the stated legal claims, we give 'the plaintiff the benefit of 
imagination, so long as the hypotheses are consistent with the 
complaint.'" Bissessur v. Ind. Univ. Board of Trustees, 581 F. 
3d 599, 603 (7th Cir. 2009).

II. Breach of Contract (Count I) and Promissory Estoppel 
(Count II)

In these counts, Wigod alleges that Wells Fargo promised to 
permanently modify the terms of her original mortgage loan, 
as long as she met all of the requirements set out in the Trial 
Period Plan. In Count I, she alleges that the Trial Period Plan 
was a contract, and  [*12] that Wells Fargo breached the 
contract by failing to permanently modify her mortgage loan 
even though she had fully complied with the terms of the 
Trial Period Plan. Alternatively, she alleges that Wells Fargo 
failed to honor its promise to permanently modify Wigod's 
mortgage loan, a promise on which she relied to her 
detriment.

Wells Fargo argues that the allegations in Counts I and II are 
nothing more than claims that Wells Fargo failed to comply 
with the terms of HAMP, under which Wigod alleges she was 
entitled to a permanent modification. The vast majority of 
courts that have considered the issue have agreed that HAMP 
provides no private right of action. See, e.g., Vida v. OneWest 
Bank, F.S.B., No. 10-987, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132000, 
2010 WL 5148473, **3-4 (D. Or. Dec. 13, 2010) (collecting 
cases). Wigod contends that the lack of any private right of 
action under HAMP is irrelevant because her claims are 
grounded not in HAMP, but rather Wells Fargo's promises in 
the Trial Period Plan. The plaintiff in Vida made a similar 
attempt to distinguish her claims for breach of contract based 
upon statements in the Trial Period Plan from a claim under 
HAMP itself. The district court concluded that even though 
the plaintiff  [*13] had couched her claim as one for breach of 
the Trial Period Plan, "the facts and allegations as pleaded in 
this case are premised chiefly on the terms and procedures set 
forth via HAMP and are not sufficiently independent to state a 
separate state law cause of action for breach of contract." 
2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132000, [WL] at *5.

As with the plaintiff in Vida, Wigod has alleged claims that 
rely "primarily on representations made in uniform HAMP 
documents," including the statement in the Trial Period Plan 
that as long as she complied with the requirements of that 
Plan, "'then the Lender will provide me with a Home 
Affordable Modification Agreement . . . that would amend 
and supplement (1) the Mortgage on the Property, and (2) the 
Note secured by the Mortgage.'" Id. (quoting plaintiff's Trial 
Period Plan). Because "the alleged offer to modify came 
about and was made wholly under the rubric of HAMP, as 
were [the plaintiff]'s alleged actions in acceptance of the 
offer, i.e., submitting the required documentation, and the 
alleged consideration, i.e. remitting reduced loan payments, 
[the plaintiff] fails to state a cause of action independent of 
HAMP, for which there is no private right of action." Id.

Consequently,  [*14] the motion to dismiss Wigod's claims of 
breach of contract (Count I) is granted and the claim is 
dismissed with prejudice. The court also grants the motion to 
dismiss with prejudice Wigod's claim of promissory estoppel 
(Count II) which, like her claim of breach of contract, is 
premised primarily on representations made in uniform 
HAMP documents.

III. Breach of Servicer Participation Agreement (Count 
III)

In Count III, Wigod alleges that Wells Fargo breached the 
terms of the Servicer Participation Agreement that it entered 
into with Fannie Mae, and that she has standing to sue as an 
intended beneficiary. Because one of the parties to the 
Servicer Participation Agreement is Fannie Mae as an agent 
of the United States, the agreement is governed by federal 
common law. Speleos v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P., 
No. 10-11503, 755 F. Supp. 2d 304, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
132111, 2010 WL 5174510, *3 (D. Mass. Dec. 14, 2010). 
Under federal law, federal courts apply the Restatement 
(Second) of Contracts to determine whether a third-party is an 
intended beneficiary to a government contract. Id. Under § 
313 of the Restatement, a third-party is an intended 
beneficiary only if (a) the contract explicitly gives the third 
party the right to enforce the  [*15] contract, or (b) the third 
party was intended to benefit from the contract and third-
party claims are consistent with the terms of the contract. See 
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 313.

Wigod has cited several portions of the Servicer Participation 
Agreement to show that the Agreement was intended to 
benefit borrowers like her. However, she has failed to 
acknowledge the significance of ¶ 11(E):

The Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the parties to the Agreement and their 
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permitted successors-in-interest.

Servicer Participation Agreement (attached as Exhibit B to the 
Amended Complaint [23-1]) ¶ 11(E). A similarly-worded 
clause appeared in the Servicer Participation Agreement at 
issue in Speleos:

These rights and remedies are for our benefit and that of 
our successors and assigns.

Speleos, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132111, 2010 WL 5174510 at 
*5. In Speleos, the court concluded that such language is 
inconsistent with allowing third-party claims to enforce the 
Servicer Participation Agreement and, therefore, held that the 
borrower was not an intended beneficiary. The decision 
reached in Speleos that a borrower is not an intended 
beneficiary of a Servicer Participation Agreement is 
consistent with  [*16] the decisions reached by most of the 
courts that have addressed the issue. See, e.g.,  2010 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 132111, [WL] at *3 (collecting cases).

As with the Servicer Participation Agreement in Speleos, the 
language in Wells Fargo's Servicer Participation Agreement is 
inconsistent with allowing third-party claims and, therefore, 
Wigod is not an intended beneficiary under that Agreement. 
Accordingly, she lacks standing to bring a claim alleging 
breach of the Agreement, and Count III is dismissed with 
prejudice.

IV. Negligent Hiring and Supervision (Count IV)

In Count IV, Wigod alleges that Wells Fargo hired temporary 
employees who were not qualified to determine a borrower's 
eligibility for a HAMP modification, and failed to safeguard 
Wigod against the unfitness of its employees. As a result, 
Wigod alleges, Wells Fargo's employees improperly 
determined that borrowers like Wigod were not eligible for a 
HAMP modification.

As was the case with Wigod's breach of contract and 
promissory estoppel claims, Wigod is alleging that Wells 
Fargo failed to adhere to the terms and procedures set forth 
under HAMP in that it failed to permanently modify her 
mortgage loan even though, she contends, she met the 
requirements. Her claim  [*17] of negligent hiring and 
supervision is therefore premised on Wells Fargo's obligations 
as a HAMP servicer, a claim for which HAMP provides her 
with no private right of action to enforce. See Vida, 2010 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 132000, 2010 WL 5148473, at *5 ("the facts and 
allegations as pleaded in this case are premised chiefly on the 
terms and procedures set forth via HAMP and are not 
sufficiently independent to state" separate state law claims).

Because Wigod's claim of negligent hiring and supervision 
are really claims that Wells Fargo failed to adhere to the terms 
and procedures of HAMP, Count IV is dismissed with 
prejudice.

V. Fraudulent Misrepresentation and/or Concealment 
(Count V) Negligent Misrepresentation and/or 
Concealment (Count VI)

In Counts V and VI, Wigod alleges that she suffered damages 
after reasonably relying on misrepresentations made by Wells 
Fargo. Specifically, she identifies the misrepresentation as the 
statement in the Trial Period Plan that Wells Fargo would 
permanently modify the terms of her mortgage loan as long as 
she is "in compliance with this Loan Trial Period and [her] 
representations in Section 1 continue to be true in all material 
respects." Trial Period Plan [attached as Exhibit A to 
 [*18] the First Amended Complaint [23-1]) at 1. 
Additionally, she alleges damages based upon Wells Fargo's 
failure to disclose that (a) it would consider her in default if 
she made the reduced payments required under the Trial 
Payment Plan rather than the full payments required under her 
original mortgage loan, and (b) Wells Fargo would "fail to 
adhere to applicable HAMP guidelines and directives" by 
denying her a permanent modification even though she 
qualified for one under HAMP guidelines.

A. Fraudulent Misrepresentation Negligent 
Misrepresentation

To succeed on her claim of fraudulent misrepresentation, 
Wigod must be able to establish each of the following: (1) a 
false statement of material fact; (2) known or believed to be 
false by the person making it; (3) an intent to induce the 
plaintiff to act; (4) justifiable reliance on the truth of the 
statement; and (5) damage resulting from such reliance. See 
Weidner v. Karlin, 402 Ill. App. 3d 1084, 932 N.E.2d 602, 
605, 342 Ill. Dec. 475 (Ill. App. Ct. 2010). The elements of a 
claim of negligent misrepresentation are similar, except that 
(1) the defendant need not have known the statement was 
false, but rather was merely negligent or careless in failing to 
ascertain the truth, and (2)  [*19] the defendant must have 
owed the plaintiff a duty to provide accurate information. See 
Kopley Group V., L.P. v. Sheridan Edgewater Properties, 
Ltd., 376 Ill. App. 3d 1006, 876 N.E.2d 218, 228, 315 Ill. Dec. 
218 (Ill. App. Ct. 2007). Both claims require justifiable 
reliance, which is normally a question a question of fact, but 
"can be determined as a matter of law when no trier of fact 
could find that it was reasonable to rely on the alleged 
statements or when only one conclusion can be drawn." Cozzi 
Iron & Metal, Inc. v. U.S. Office Equipment, Inc., 250 F.3d 
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570, 574 (7th Cir. 2001).

Wigod alleges that she reasonably relied on the opening 
paragraph in the Trial Period Plan that Wells Fargo would 
permanently modify the terms of her mortgage loan as long as 
she made the four payments required under the Plan and that 
her representations of her financial condition remained true—
it makes no mention of any other requirements. However, 
elsewhere in the Trial Period Plan, Wigod was advised that 
she must meet all of HAMP's requirements for modification:

the Plan is not a modification of the Loan Documents 
and that the Loan Documents will not be modified unless 
and until (I) I meet all of the conditions required for 
modification . . .  [*20] I further understand and agree 
that the Lender will not be obligated or bound to make 
any modification of the Loan Documents if I fail to meet 
any one of the requirements under this Plan.

Trial Period Plan (attached as Exhibit A to First Amended 
Complaint [23-1]) ¶ 2(G) (emphasis added).

The quoted paragraph is at odds with the opening statement 
that to obtain a permanent modification, she merely needed to 
make the four reduced payments required under the Trial 
Period Plan and supply accurate financial information. Given 
those inherently contradictory statements, Wigod could not 
reasonably have relied on just the opening statement because 
it would have required her to ignore the remainder of the 
contract which required her to meet all of HAMP's 
requirements. Indeed, the uniform Trial Period Plan has been 
interpreted as "explicitly not [being] an enforceable offer for 
loan modification." Vida, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132000, 
2010 WL 5148473, at *6. Accordingly, in light of the 
language of the Trial Period Plan as a whole, any reliance 
Wigod placed on just the opening sentence was not 
reasonable and, therefore, as a matter of law, she cannot 
establish the elements of either a fraudulent or negligent 
misrepresentation.  [*21] See Cozzi Iron, 250 F.3d at 574 
(reliance is unreasonable as a matter of law "when no trier of 
fact could find that it was reasonable to rely on the alleged 
statements").

B. Fraudulent Concealment Negligent Concealment

Wigod also alleges that Wells Fargo either fraudulently or 
negligently concealed from her (1) "that by her entering into 
and complying with the [Trial Period Plan] Agreement, 
Defendant would consider and report her as being in default 
on her mortgage," and (2) that Wells Fargo "would fail to 
adhere to applicable HAMP guidelines and directives and 
would, in contravention of those directives, re-evaluate the 
Plaintiff's eligibility using different standards and calculations 

than those required under the directives." First Amended 
Complaint [23-1] ¶¶ 109, 114, 120. To establish a fraudulent 
or negligent misrepresentation based upon an omission or 
concealment, in addition to the elements of a fraudulent or 
negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must show that the 
defendant owed a duty to supply the omitted or concealed 
information. See Weidner v. Karlin, 402 Ill. App. 3d 1084, 
932 N.E.2d 602, 605, 342 Ill. Dec. 475 (Ill. App. Ct. 2010) ("it 
is necessary to show the existence of a special or fiduciary 
relationship,  [*22] which would raise a duty to speak") 
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Wells Fargo seeks dismissal of Wigod's claims of alleged 
concealment based upon the absence of any fiduciary or other 
duty to speak. Specifically, Wells Fargo points out that under 
Illinois law, a "mortgagor-mortgagee relationship does not 
create a fiduciary relationship as a matter of law." Graham v. 
Midland Mortgage Co., 406 F. Supp. 2d 948, 953 (N.D. Ill. 
2005) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Wigod 
responds that Wells Fargo owed her a duty not merely as a 
mortgagor, but rather because of its "position of influence and 
superiority over plaintiff" due to its role as "a HAMP 
servicer." Response [42-1] at 28. However, as was the case 
with Wigod's breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and 
negligent hiring and supervision claims, her concealment 
claims are premised on Wells Fargo's obligations as a HAMP 
servicer and, therefore, HAMP provides her with no private 
right of action to enforce those claims. See Vida, 2010 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 132000, 2010 WL 5148473, at *5 ("the facts and 
allegations as pleaded in this case are premised chiefly on the 
terms and procedures set forth via HAMP and are not 
sufficiently independent  [*23] to state" separate state law 
claims).

Accordingly, the motion to dismiss Wigod's claims of 
fraudulent and negligent misrepresentation and concealment 
(Counts V and VI) are dismissed with prejudice.

VI. Illinois Consumer Fraud Act (Count VII)

Finally, Wigod alleges violations of Illinois' Consumer Fraud 
and Deceptive Business Practices Act based upon the same 
statements or omissions at issue in its claims of fraudulent and 
negligent misrepresentations and omissions, namely: (1) 
Wells Fargo's purported promise that Wigod would obtain a 
permanent modification as long as she made the reduced 
payments required under the Trial Period Plan and her 
financial disclosures remained accurate; (2) Wells Fargo's 
alleged failure to disclose that it would consider her in default 
on her original mortgage if she paid no more than the reduced 
payments required under the Trial Period Plan; and (3) Wells 
Fargo's alleged failure to disclose that it would not follow 
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HAMP guidelines when evaluating her eligibility for a 
permanent modification.

The Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act 
prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair or 
deceptive acts or practices, including the use of any 
"deception,  [*24] fraud, false pretense, false promise, 
misrepresentation or the concealment, suppression or 
omission of any material fact, with intent that others rely upon 
the concealment, suppression or omission." 815 Ill. Comp. 
Stat. § 505/2. To prevail on a claim under the Act, Wigod 
must establish the following: (1) an unfair or deceptive act by 
the defendant; (2) the defendant's intention that the plaintiff 
rely on the unfair or deceptive act; (3) the unfair or deceptive 
act occurred in the course of trade or commerce; and (4) the 
unfair or deceptive act proximately caused the plaintiff's 
damages. See Siegel v. Shell Oil Co., 612 F.3d 932, 934-35 
(7th Cir. 2010) (applying Illinois law).

Wells Fargo argues that Wigod's complaint fails to plausibly 
suggest that she would be able to establish two of the required 
elements. First, it contends that Wigod's complaint does not 
plausibly suggest that she could establish an intent to deceive. 
The court agrees. Wigod argues that Wells Fargo lured her 
into pursuing a permanent modification all the while knowing 
that it would never offer those borrowers a permanent 
modification. But it also alleges that Wells Fargo's 
participation in HAMP was voluntary. If  [*25] Wells Fargo 
was intent on denying permanent modifications to borrowers 
such as Wigod, it would make no sense for Wells Fargo to 
voluntarily participate in a program aimed at providing 
modifications. In other words, if Wells Fargo did not want to 
permanently modify its borrowers' mortgages, it would not 
have chosen to voluntarily participate in the government's 
modification program. Wigod contends that Wells Fargo's 
motivation was to "extract as much money as possible from 
borrowers Defendant identified as being at risk for default 
prior to foreclosure," but by sending Wigod a Temporary 
Payment Plan, Wells Fargo agreed to accept less from her 
each month for four months than she was previously obligated 
to pay. Thus, Wigod's allegations do not plausibly suggest an 
intent to deceive.

Second, Wells Fargo contends that Wigod's allegations do not 
plausibly suggest that she has suffered any injury. Wigod 
alleges that she was injured because she poured all her 
financial resources into making the four payments required 
under the Trial Payment Plan, and therefore was unable to 
"pursue other avenues for saving her home and credit." Am. 
Compl. [23-1] ¶ 125. However, the fact that Wells Fargo 
agreed  [*26] not to foreclose on her home if she made 
substantially reduced payments for four months, as opposed 
to the full payment she was otherwise obligated to pay, would 

have left her with more financial resources to pursue other 
options, rather than fewer resources. Additionally, to establish 
damages under the Consumer Fraud Act, Wigod must be able 
to show that Wells Fargo's alleged "deception deprive[d] the 
plaintiff of the benefit of her bargain by causing her to pay 
more than the actual value of the property." Kim v. Carter's 
Inc., 598 F.3d 362, 365 (7th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation 
marks and citation omitted). Given Wigod's allegation that 
Wells Fargo agreed not to foreclose on her home even if she 
paid less than she owed, her complaint does not plausibly 
suggest that she suffered any actual pecuniary loss as a result 
of Wells Fargo's alleged deception. Id. (to establish claim 
under Consumer Fraud Act, plaintiff must have suffered an 
"actual pecuniary loss").

Accordingly, Wigod has not plausibly suggested an intent to 
deceive or an injury proximately caused by the alleged 
deception, and therefore Wells Fargo's motion to dismiss her 
claim under Illinois' Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Practices 
 [*27] Act is granted. Because she cannot allege an intent to 
deceive or damages that would be consistent with her 
allegations that Wells Fargo agreed to a trial period of 
accepting monthly payments that were less than Wigod owed, 
the consumer fraud claim in Count VII is dismissed with 
prejudice.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the court grants Wells Fargo's motion 
to dismiss and dismisses Wigod's claims with prejudice. The 
clerk is directed to enter a Rule 58 judgment and terminate 
this case from the court's docket.

DATE: January 25, 2011

/s/ Blanche M. Manning

Judge Blanche M. Manning

United States District Judge
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